
   

 
 

  99 West Main Street    ●    P.O. Box 188    ●    New Albany, Ohio 43054    ●    614.855.3913    ●    Fax 939.2234    ●    newalbanyohio.org 

 
 
 

New Albany Planning Commission Agenda 
Monday, December 18, 2023 7:00 p.m. 

Members of the public must attend the meeting in-person to participate and provide comment at 
New Albany Village Hall at 99 West Main Street. The meeting will be streamed for viewing 
purposes only via the city website at https://newalbanyohio.org/answers/streaming-meetings/ 

I. Call to order 
 

II. Roll call 
 

III. Action on minutes:   December 4, 2023 
   

IV. Additions or corrections to agenda 
Administration of oath to all witnesses/applicants/staff who plan to speak regarding an 
application on tonight’s agenda.  “Do you swear to tell the truth and nothing but the 
truth.” 

 
V.  Hearing of visitors for items not on tonight's agenda 
 
VI. Cases:  
  

VAR-116-2023 Variance 
Variance to the Woodhaven zoning text to allow two 8-foot wide single bay garage doors 
where the text requires a minimum width of 9-feet at 7275 Steeplechase Lane N (PID: 
222-005343). 
Applicant: Bob Webb Woodhaven, LLC c/o Kirk Denyes 

 
Motion of acceptance of staff reports and related documents into the record for  
VAR-116-2023. 
 
Motion of approval for application VAR-116-2023 based on the findings in the staff 
report with the conditions listed in the staff report, subject to staff approval. 

 
 
VII. Other business 
 
VIII. Poll members for comment 

 
IX. Adjournment 

https://newalbanyohio.org/answers/streaming-meetings/


   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  1 
 

 
 
 

New Albany Planning Commission 
DRAFT Meeting Minutes 

Monday, December 4, 2023 7:00 p.m.

 

I. Call to order 
The New Albany Planning Commission held a regular meeting on December 4, 2023 in 
the New Albany Village Hall.  Chair Kirby called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. 
 

II. Roll call 
Those answering roll call: 
 Mr. Kirby   present 
 Mr. Wallace   present 
 Mr. Schell   present 
 Mr. Larsen   present 
 Ms. Briggs   present 
 Council Member Wiltrout present 
 
Staff members present: Law Director Albrecht, Development Engineer Albright, Planner 
II Christian, Planning Manager Mayer, Planner Nichols, Deputy Clerk Madriguera. 
 

III. Action on minutes: 
Chair Kirby stated that the schedule was marked none, but noted that November 20, 2023 
meeting minutes had been distributed and asked if there were any corrections to the 
minutes. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated he had one correction.  In the third sentence of the eighth 
paragraph of page ten, the word “commission” should have been the word “city.”  Deputy 
Clerk Madriguera noted the correction. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if there were any further corrections.  Hearing none, he moved for 
approval of the November 20, 2023 minutes as amended.  Commissioner Wallace 
seconded the motion.   
 
Chair Kirby asked if there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he asked to 
hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. Larsen abstain; Ms. 
Briggs abstain.  Having three yes votes, the motion passed and the November 20, 2023 
meeting minutes were approved as amended.   

   
IV. Additions or corrections to agenda 

Chair Kirby asked whether there were any additions or corrections to the agenda. 
 
Planner Nichols responded yes, the city had a request to table.   
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  2 
 

Planning Manager Mayer explained that the applicant for Haines Creek, which involved 
FDP-87-2023, FPL-88-2023, FPL-91-2023, and FPL-92-2023 had requested to table the 
applications until the January 17, 2024 meeting so that they could study further grading 
of the site.  He stated that city staff was supportive of the tabling request. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that when the commission reached those applications on the agenda, 
the tabling would be considered.   
 
Chair Kirby administered the oath to all present who wished to address the commission.  
He further advised everyone that now would be a good time to silence all cell phones. 

 
V.  Hearing of visitors for items not on tonight's agenda 

Chair Kirby, noting that the Haines Creek items would not be on tonight’s agenda, asked 
if anyone was present who wished to address the commission for items not on the agenda. 

 
Jim Rufo, 9175 Lee Hall Court.  Mr. Rufo told the commission that he was present at the 
last meeting because he wanted to speak regarding Haines Creek, and he was likewise 
present at this meeting for the same reason he but understood that those applications were 
to be tabled at tonight’s meeting.  He stated that he only wanted to speak if the developer 
was present to hear his remarks.  Because the developer was not present, he thanked the 
commission and stated he would return in January when the applications would be 
considered. 

 
Joel Topolosky, on 6244 Calloway Square West in the Nottingham Trace community.  
Mr. Topolosky stated that he wanted to address the commission on two main topics.  He 
wanted to find out more about the zoning at New Albany Condit Road and New Albany 
East.  He also wanted to raise concerns he had with the infrastructure in his community, 
Nottingham Trace, which is one of the first age-restricted communities in the area.  He 
explained that his concerns which included:  lack of cross walks, stop signs and speed 
limit signs are not visible, an intersection that should be an east cross/west cross at 
Schleppi Road should be a four-way stop, and the speed limit on Schleppi Road between 
Walnut and the city limits.  He explained that it is a county road and the limit is an 
unmarked 55mph. He and other residents have been reaching out to county and state 
officials in order to get a survey so that the limit can be reduced to 35 mph.  He further 
explained that they were successful in getting a sign that says 25 mph ahead, but another 
sign was needed.  The fact that there is no stop at the east/west cross would become 
significant when construction for the roundabout began and traffic was detoured through 
the Nottingham Trace community.  He continued that the community center is too small 
to accommodate the number of residents, and this fact is evident when the homeowners’ 
association (hoa) holds a meeting because it is very crowded.   He stated that if the Fire 
Marshall had been there, the meeting would have been shut down.  He continued that all 
of the homes planned for the community had not yet been completed. He stated that if the 
amount of homes planned for the development had been considered by the commission, 
two community centers would have been built. He stated that he has tried to get meetings 
with the commission members; he has met with the city’s zoning officer and the building 
inspector and virtually nothing has happened; and he was also present to learn more about 
the community on tonight’s agenda.   
 
Chair Kirby confirmed with staff that the community is complete with sidewalks. 

 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that sidewalks are either installed with the roads or 
on a house by house basis as the homes were completed.  In this community he believed 
the sidewalks were being installed as the homes were brought on line.  He continued that 
the leisure trails are installed as part of the parks and trails infrastructure. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  3 
 

Chair Kirby continued that the issue here was not the sidewalks, but getting across the 
street to the sidewalk.  He asked whether a traffic study had been performed and whether 
the intersections warranted a four-way stop and whether a four-way stop was able to be 
installed.  He also asked whether the city has square footage standards for community 
centers. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that he would be happy to check with the city 
engineer and follow up with Mr. Topolosky.   He further responded that the city code 
does not require or regulate the construction of community centers.  He explained that the 
city has parkland requirements but does not require the provision of amenities beyond 
that. 
 
Chair Kirby thanked Planning Manager Mayer and noted that he understood that the city 
did not require or regulate community centers.  Then he asked whether there could be a 
best practice based on d/u, or that it not be exceed limits of the Fire Marshall 
 
Mr. Topolosky continued they were assuming it would be something less than two people 
per home.  He also stated that being a 55+ community, the community center should be 
equipped with an AED, noting the existence of pickleball and other sports courts.  He 
further stated that if it senior apartments an AED would be required.  He further stated 
that it is a 55+ community and there was a prohibition on residents under the age of 19.  
This language had exempted the developer from building a playground.  As a result, 
visiting grandchildren had no place to play.  He stated that he was not suggesting there 
should be a full-size playground, but there should be something small to keep the kids 
from playing in the street. 
 
Chair Kirby noted that it was Council’s role to mandate such suggestions, but asked staff 
about the feasibility of including these suggestions as best practices for how to develop 
this housing product moving forward, and in particular, that crosswalks should be 
planned as part of the circulation plan similar to right of way. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that he would talk to the city’s traffic engineer and 
gather additional information and present his findings to the commission. 
 
Chair Kirby added that if this is a case of lessons learned, that he would like to integrate 
these lessons moving forward.  He also stated that somewhere there must be a number for 
the appropriate square footage for community centers based upon programming. 
 
Commissioner Wallace commented that he was unsure whether the commission should 
be in the business of mandating the size of community centers or the number of 
pickleball courts, particularly without a detailed analysis.  The issues raised are the 
opinion of one resident and while they may be shared by other residents, many of these 
issues should be addressed by the hoa.  The commission has consistently been committed 
to bringing the best possible product, and responding to Mr. Topolosky he said that the 
commission heard his concerns, but was leary about mandating such matters, and that 
they should be validated by research. 
 
Commissioner Schell added provision of the AED and the playground were not issues for 
the commission, they were issues for the developer and hoa to address. 
 
Chair Kirby stated the standard for parkland/open space per d/u either onsite or elsewhere 
in New Albany.  He asked whether the community had met its parkland requirement. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer answered yes, he believed this community had met their 
parkland and open space requirement on site.  They city imposed minimum infrastructure 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  4 
 

requirements to the parkland, but did not require the provision of a top lot playground.  
And further that the code left the provision of amenities open-ended for the developer. 
 
Commissioner Schell confirmed that parkland was distinct from playground. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout confirmed with Planning Manager Mayer that there is no 
prohibition of top lot playgrounds.  She thanked Mr. Topolosky and that she would pass 
along the concerns to Council – especially the detour.  She felt they could get ahead of 
the issue and recalled that she had met with him previously, that he had given her a tour 
of the community, and that some issues had been resolved.  She thanked him again and 
said that these issues will be worked on as well. 

 
Chair Kirby thanked Mr. Topolosky and stated that the next item on the agenda was 
cases.   
 
Chair Kirby moved to table FDP-87-2023.  
 
Commissioner Wallace called for a point of order.  He asked whether the applications 
could be tabled with one motion, or whether the applications needed to be tabled 
separately. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that the applications could be tabled with one 
motion. 
 
Chair Kirby moved to table FDP-87-2023, FPL-88-2023, FPL-91-2023, and FPL-92-
2023.  Commissioner Wallace seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion. 
 
Law Director Albrecht asked whether January 17th was included in the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby stated until the regular January meeting. 
 
Commissioner Wallace accepted the amendment. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any other discussion on the motion.  Hearing none 
he asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. Larsen yes; Ms. 
Briggs yes.  Having five yes votes, the motion passed and the applications were tabled 
until the January 17, 2024 meeting. 

 
Ron Davies, 8200 Central College Road.  Approached the lectern and stated that he did 
not realize the Hearing of visitors for items not on tonight’s agenda portion of the 
meeting had closed. 
 
Chair Kirby invited Mr. Davies to proceed.    
 
Mr. Davies raised a question for future consideration.  He continued that his 
understanding was that a traffic study was done on Central College Road in January or 
February of last year and he believed that the traffic study needed to be redone.  The 
recent traffic patterns are substantially higher and faster, particularly at 6:30 a.m., 7:30 
a.m.  He also suggested the installation of a roundabout at the intersection of Central 
College, Kitsmiller and 62.  He state that this was becoming a dangerous intersection.  
The frequency of auto violations had grown demonstrably. He stated that there was an 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  5 
 

accident on Thanksgiving, and officers told him that they had ceased citing people.  He 
noted that New Albany had recently received a Federal grant of $101 million dollars for 
infrastructure and other improvements and suggested that a roundabout be added to that 
template. 
 
Chair Kirby thanked Mr. Davies and stated that his proposals needed to go to the city 
council first for consideration because the commission would not see anything until 
someone proposes to do something to it. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout confirmed with Planning Manager Mayer that as development 
continues traffic review was ongoing. She stated that council is committed to making 
improvements and has met with residents and the residents have shared their desire to 
have a roundabout at that intersection. 
 
Jeffrey Lynn Courtyards at Central College and SR 605.  He stated that he would be 
remiss if he did not advise the commission that some of these intersections are getting 
extremely dangerous, for example the intersection of Walnut and Bevelhymer.  He stated 
that he had witnessed three accidents there.  This intersection is highly concerning and 
more so than the city council is aware of.  He acknowledged that it is the Franklin County 
jurisdiction and has been in contact with those officials.  He recognized that it was tricky 
due to the overlapping jurisdiction, but eventually he thought that a roundabout should be 
added there as well.  He shared the concerns raised by the others at the meeting and stated 
that consideration needed to be given to safety, the school buses and children who bike.  
 
Council Member Wiltrout agreed and responded that the city council certainly is aware of 
that intersection, and consideration of a roundabout was part of capital projects and she 
was prepared to vote for it the next evening with the budget.  She asked whether New 
Albany had the right of ways at that intersection.  She further stated that she had almost 
gotten into an accident at that intersection last summer.  She wished there were bike paths 
to everywhere in the community but New Albany does not have the right of ways 
necessary; she stated that city council is aggressively looking at it.  The bulk of the 
capital project funds were dedicated to ways to make it safer in his area of the city. 
 
Mr. Lynn thanked Council Member Wiltrout and further responded that he was not sure 
what prevented a temporary fix for the intersection, he noted that a four-way stop or 
dangerous intersection ahead signage would be helpful, and that it is almost impossible to 
cross Walnut because the traffic was so fast. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout responded that she understood and asked whether the city had 
the jurisdiction to change the stopping patterns at that intersection. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that the city traffic engineer has to evaluate the 
intersection for number of cars, accidents, traffic speed, and several data points.  The 
improvements are dictated by those data points.  He stated that the city engineer has done 
a conceptual design for a roundabout at that intersection to study the alignment and to see 
where future right of way is needed and it is being studied and considered for a future 
project.  

 
Council Member Wiltrout continued that Mr. Lynn’s suggestion was a good one – why 
can’t we just put a stop sign there now, temporarily.  At this point and it is unclear 
whether it is better to have one transition or two, but it was a good question. 

 
Mr. Lynn stated that he hoped the installation of a roundabout was the solution. 

 
Council Member Wiltrout stated she would do everything she could to help that along. 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  6 
 

 
Planning Manager Mayer added that he would be happy to discuss it further and to 
coordinate a discussion with the traffic engineer as well and gave Mr. Lynn his card. 

 
Chair Kirby stated that city council meets on the first and third Tuesdays of the month.  
He continued there are many constraints and factors involved in changing the speed limit 
and traffic patterns on roads, some of which were in place to prevent the establishment of 
speed traps. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout agreed and reiterated that New Albany was prohibited from 
unilaterally changing the speed limit, but work on this issue was ongoing and underway. 

 
Chair Kirby stated that the next item on the agenda was ZC-107-2023, and asked to hear 
from staff. 
 

VI. Cases:   
 

ZC-107-2023 Rezoning 
Request to rezone 12.737 acres located at 7270 New Albany Condit Road in Franklin 
County from Infill Planned Development (I-PUD) to Limited General Employment (L-
GE) for an area to be known as the North City Business Zoning District (PIDs: 222-
005258 and 222-005259). 
Applicant: The New Albany Company, LLC c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq. 

 
Planner Nichols delivered the staff report. 
 
Chair Kirby asked to hear from engineering. 
 
Engineer Albright delivered the engineering report. 
 
Applicant Aaron Underhill, 8000 Walton Parkway, attorney on behalf of the owner.  He 
acknowledged that the commission had granted a conditional use on the NACOT site for 
the expansion of the Cornerstone Academy.  He explained that this was a situation where 
the economy has driven a business decision. A couple of years ago it was thought that 
Cornerstone would relocate its middle and high school students to this site, however this 
site has become very attractive for other uses.  Further, the school has decided to remain 
and purchase their temporary location and to improve some vacant land owned by the 
New Albany Company in order to meet their needs.  This would be in exchange for the 
New Albany Company reacquiring the subject property. Thus, he was requesting to revert 
to the former zoning classification of L-GE. He stated that he agreed with all of the 
conditions but requested language that would permit less than a full traffic study, subject 
to the engineer’s approval.  He noted that this was a lesser use than a data center.  He 
explained that they were willing to perform the full study if the engineer required it, 
however he was requesting flexibility because he suspected that the circumstances here 
warranted something less than a full study. 
 
Chair Kirby asked what was developed directly west. 
 
Mr. Underhill responded not directly west and he believed the next building was the 
Aetna building, and then American Regents, and to the north was the future 
neighborhood commercial use associated with Nottingham Trace, and to the northwest 
contained a park. 
 
Engineer Albright stated that the green field to the west would soon be developed into a 
data center, and it was about to be permitted. 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  7 
 

 
Chair Kirby stated that he presumed Mr. Underhill wanted to keep the parcels clearly 
separated. 
 
Mr. Underhill responded yes. 
 
Commissioner Wallace clarified the location of the data center. He also clarified the 
location of the future commercial development associated with Nottingham.  
 
Mr. Underhill said yes and explained that the existing zoning of I-PUD for Nottingham 
allows for neighborhood oriented commercial uses.  Those would be presented to the 
commission in a final development plan but they allowed for coffee shops, restaurants, 
dry cleaners, etc.   
 
Commissioner Wallace asked where the park ended and the commercial development 
area began. 
 
Mr. Underhill indicated the location on the site plan – a rectangular area with an access 
drive. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked for the timing of the installation of the leisure trail along 
SR 605. 
 
Mr. Underhill responded that installation typically be with development.  There is not a 
time as of yet but it will likely go in at the time of development. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked whether there was any reason to have it installed sooner, 
and further asked about access from the south for Nottingham residents who would like 
to bike or walk. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that in this case it was a limitation text. Generally, 
the code requires it to be installed at the time of development.  He explained that it is 
usually installed in sections.  He further explained that he did not know if there was a 
connection; he indicated some of the surrounding properties which are privately owned to 
the center line of the road which would limit trail installation and access.  
 
Chair Kirby asked how much right of way was on the east side of 605, and further asked 
how many curb cuts there would be. 
  
Planning Manager Mayer responded that they had been annexed into the city but were 
still privately owned to the center line of the road. He further explained that the amount 
of curb cuts is determined in conjunction with the engineering analysis. 
 
Chair Kirby continued that reason he asked was given the 55-mph speed limit on 605, not 
having a curb cut would make sense. He further stated that one of the reasons that paths 
were not required early was because curb cuts and construction traffic can tear them up.  
If it is known now, that there will not be curb cuts on 605 then the paths can go in early. 
 
Planner Nichols responded that the zoning text states the number, locations and spacing 
of curb cuts along public rights-of-way shall be determined and approved at the time a 
certificate of appropriateness is issued for a project in this zoning district, which is during 
the permitting process for L-GE. Because this is an L-GE it, it will not come back to the 
commission. When the traffic analysis is submitted, the number of curb cuts will be 
specified and approved. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  8 
 

Commissioner Larsen asked Mr. Underhill why he was seeking to waive the traffic 
impact study.  
 
Mr. Underhill explained that his request would still be subject to staff approval, he was 
seeking flexibility in the language because he was not sure a full study was required in 
every instance.  He stated that there is a difference between a data center with 20 
employees and an office with hundreds of employees.  He was not requesting to be able 
to waive it himself, he was requesting that the language be flexible to allow the traffic 
engineer to approve whether a full study was required.  
 
Commissioner Larsen stated that he was hesitant to waive it considering the houses that 
will be developed in that area, and the existing traffic concerns. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that it was something that was put into every zoning text.  
If stated that making the level of study subject to the discretion of the engineer was 
typical and would provide site-specific flexibility. 
 
Commissioner Wallace pointed out that right now the Engineer Memo states that a traffic 
study will be required, and asked what kind of language should be included to make it 
sufficiently flexible. 
 
Planner Nichols responded that the language in the staff report may be sufficient because 
it states the comments of the city engineer shall be addressed and incorporated into the 
zoning text as appropriate subject to staff approval. 
 
Commissioner Wallace thanked Planner Nichols and responded that was a great point, 
and stated that the commission could add language to the first condition that the traffic 
study is subject to staff approval. 
 
Chair Kirby asked Engineer Albright why the language in the Engineering Memo was 
mandatory. 
 
Engineer Albright responded that as Planner Nichols had said, the memo was in would be 
subject to staff approval as stated in the staff report. 
 
Chair Kirby continued, and asked, looking into the future whether a traffic study could be 
required in the event of redevelopment. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that he thought the city would be well within its 
rights to request a new traffic study in the event of future uses. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked Mr. Underhill whether he was comfortable with that 
language. 
 
Mr. Underhill indicated he was comfortable with that language being added to the 
condition. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked for clarification regarding the stream corridor protection 
zone, the language stated that it was the intent that a similar protection zone would be 
provided by the property owners located north of the stream.   
 
Planning Manager Mayer explained that the idea with the riparian corridor is that it is 
100-feet and it is typically centered to provide 50-feet on both sides, the code allows it to 
shift but it should be within the range. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  9 
 

Mr. Underhill added that the idea was that 50 feet should be provided on both sides. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that the commission has been picky about that in the past because the 
code does not have a minimum figure.  He further asked staff if it was pinned down here. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded yes, it is here.  The staff report indicates that it has 
to be at least 50 feet southward from the center line of the stream. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked Planner Nichols about the third condition that required 
building color palettes to be as simple and unobtrusive as possible and that buildings 
should avoid overly bright or jarring colors.  That language seemed somewhat vague and 
wondered how the commission could tighten the language up. 
 
Planner Nichols responded that this language was suggested by staff because it has been 
recently incorporated in other recent L-GE rezoning applications. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that architecture in and of itself is subjective and 
suggested the addition of a clause that would make it subject to the city architect’s 
review. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked Mr. Underhill whether he was comfortable with amending 
condition three in that way. 
 
Mr. Underhill responded yes, he was comfortable as long as it was modeled after 
previously imposed language. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that he was trying to remember how the commission 
addressed the usage of solar panels in prior applications.  Here he noted that the text 
exempts the solar panels from screening.  He asked whether there should be some 
restriction placed on the visibility of solar panels from 605, understanding that they had 
to be positioned for southern-facing exposure. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that was a great question.  Staff had made 
presentations to the boards regarding solar panels, and research to support code 
recommendations was ongoing.  Currently there are no code requirements or restrictions 
regarding their usage.  HOA’s have language for residential. Leaving it silent here we are 
giving the developer full discretion which has been successful in the business park. 
 
Mr. Underhill stated that in the L-GE text, the usage of solar panels is generally 
permitted.  He continued that they would be subject to future legislation, they could not 
write themselves out of language that does not yet exist. 
 
Law Director Albrecht agreed and stated that future legislation would apply.  And that 
this text could include “as appropriate” to capture it. 
 
Commissioner Wallace continued that the language [on page 3 of the zoning text, V. C.5] 
presently states that solar panels are excluded from requirements for screening.  He 
suggested that maybe the commission could add language. 
 
Mr. Underhill stated that language could be added stating unless subsequent changes to 
the codified ordinances otherwise permit. 
 
Law Director Albrecht and the commission discussed possible wording in order to be 
clear that future codified ordinances regarding solar panels would apply – that the 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  10 
 

exclusion from screening would be subject to any current or future code sections 
regarding solar panels. This would be added to the zoning text at V.C.5 
 
Chair Kirby noted for a lot of facilities having visible solar is an incentive to future 
businesses. 
 
Chair Kirby opened the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Topolosky approached the lectern and said that the information to the north regarding 
the property to the north on SR 605 was vague. That is township property, not City of 
New Albany.  He discussed issues regarding the construction of the roundabout at Walnut 
and 605.  There was discussion regarding whether it should be one or two lanes.  The 
rectangular property at Nottingham and 605 was listed as residential on the auditor’s 
website, and was shown as 505 or 550 which he was not able to get a complete definition 
of, but he thought it had something to do with the adjacent tower.  He further observed 
that that was the reason for the L-shaped pond.  Further there was a minimum amount of 
acreage required.  The question was whether they were trying to convert the property 
from residential to commercial. 
 
Chair Kirby explained that the auditor’s website does not match the municipality’s 
classification of the property.  He asked staff whether Nottingham was PUD. 
 
Planner Nichols responded yes. 
 
Chair Kirby explained that the auditor’s classification was distinct from the city’s zoning 
classification. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that the auditor’s website contains the classification of 
property and location of property for tax purposes but the city’s zoning map contains the 
usage designations. 
 
Mr. Topolosky stated that the road was owned by the county, so it was the county that 
would need to change the speed limit. He further pointed out the boundaries of New 
Albany and Plain Township. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer explained that despite the location of the surrounding property, 
SR 605 is a county road and has not been annexed into New Albany, which was unusual 
but did happen from time to time.  The county would have jurisdiction over 605. 
 
Chair Kirby added that the state would have concurrent jurisdiction over 605 because it is 
a state highway. 
 
Mr. Topolosky further explained that the path goes to Walnut and then it stops.  There is 
no path along the rectangle. 
 
Chair Kirby added a point of clarification that there is no path there, yet.  The vision of 
the city and of the commission was to install paths to nowhere that would eventually 
connect and become paths to everywhere. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that the path stopped because it was the boundary of the 
city. 
 
Mr. Topolosky asked whether there was any provision in the design for more retention 
ponds. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  11 
 

Chair Kirby explained that when the application comes back for approval of the final 
development plan, it must include a plan for stormwater management. 
 
Commissioner Wallace added that when development happens, it will not come back to 
the commission. He asked whether there is a way to get public notice and input on the 
location of the retention pond.  
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that because this is not a PUD there will not be 
notice to neighbors, but the plans are on the website and will be updated regularly on the 
website.  He further invited anyone interested in the development to call the city.  There 
are planners in the office who would be happy to explain what is going on. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if there were other members of the public who wished to comment. 
 
Hearing none, he asked if there were other comments from members of the commission. 
 
Hearing none, Chair Kirby moved to accept the staff reports and related documents into 
the record for ZC-107-2023.  Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yes; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. 
Larsen yes.  Having five yes votes, the motion passed and the staff reports and related 
documents were admitted to the record for ZC-107-2023. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for a motion on the merits. 
 
Commissioner Wallace moved to recommend approval of application ZC-107-2023 
based on the findings in the staff report and subject to the three conditions in the staff 
report amended, and added to, as follows: 

• In condition 1., the Engineer’s comments with reference to the traffic study are 
subject to staff approval. 

 
• The addition of Condition 4., The zoning text § V(C)5 the exclusion from 

screening is subject to future code sections governing solar panels. 
 

• In condition 3., the language regarding the usage of colors that are overly bright 
is subject to the city architect review. 

 
Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion.   
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Wallace yes; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. Larsen yes; Mr. 
Kirby yes.  Having five yes votes the motion passed and ZC-107-2023 was favorably 
recommended to Council with the conditions as specified by Commissioner Wallace. 
 
Chair Kirby called a five-minute recess at 8:25 p.m. 
 
Chair Kirby called the meeting to order at 8:30 p.m.  He introduced the next case and 
asked to hear the staff report. 
 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  12 
 

ZC-110-2023 Rezoning 
Request to rezone 5.23 acres located on three parcels located at 6734 through 6800 
Bevelhymer Road in Franklin County from Residential (R-1) to Infill Planned 
Development (I-PUD) for an area to be known as the Walton Farms Zoning District 
(PIDs: 222-000619, 222-000620, 222-000621). 
Applicant: Stephen Butler 

 
Planner Nichols delivered the staff report. 
  
Chair Kirby asked for comments from engineering. 
 
Engineer Albright delivered the engineering report. 
 
Chair Kirby asked to hear from the applicant. 
 
Applicant Stephen Butler, on behalf of the owner.  He further stated that the owner was 
present in the audience.  He stated that he has worked with staff over a number of 
months, and that he feels the application will be a benefit to the community.  The 
neighborhood street would be placed in the rear on the east side.  He explained the site 
plan and stated that most of the details were tied down and they fully intend to meet all 
engineering requirements and conditions imposed in the staff report. 
 
Chair Kirby confirmed that Mr. Butler was okay with the five conditions in the staff 
report and asked if there were sidewalks on the eastern road. 
 
Mr. Butler responded yes there would be a sidewalk there.   
 
Chair Kirby asked about the access on the northern boundary, and whether at the moment 
the new road would end at the northern boundary.  
 
Mr. Butler said yes, that was the proposal as the result of working with staff, but there 
would be access once the future road is constructed when that happened one of the curb 
cuts would be eliminated. 
 
Chair Kirby continued that that led to his real question which was whether the northern 
edge going west, the future road (northern east-west road) was on any part of the subject 
property. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded no.  It would come in as part of future northern 
development. He explained that was why the road was shown stubbed. Presently there 
will be two curb cuts on Bevelhymer but if and when development occurs one of the curb 
cuts on Bevelhymer will be eliminated.  There will be one access point from Bevelhymer 
and one access point from the northers east-west public street.  This was derived from the 
general alignment plan in the Strategic Plan. 
 
Chair Kirby stated he was leery about making a problem for a someone else.  He 
wondered whether the northern road would be installed in the future, and noted that, as 
drawn the area to the north was residential.  He asked why the road was not positioned on 
the subject property so it could be installed now. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that was a great question.  And it came down to 
alignment and need. He continued that when staff looked at the alignment, it determined 
that a road to the north was not needed at this time, adding a stub to the future east-west 
road is sufficient.  Roadways are installed in pieces.  Based on staff review, it was 
determined that the northern road was not necessary today.  He further stated that based 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  13 
 

on the traffic study and the current proposed usage the best solution was to provide 
access via north/south rather than east/west.  He also stated that the road way on the east 
maintains the character of Bevelhymer Road.  Maintaining the character of Bevelhymer 
was an overarching concern.  Here, the setbacks would be maintained and no widening 
would be required. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether a condition of approval that would require provision of at 
least some right of way if and when development occurs to the north. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that was a great question. He thought that a 
condition requiring provision of right of way was not necessary, but perhaps an additional 
easement and noted that easements had been used in other cases.  It was typical in the 
business park for property owners to provide an easement outside of the right of way. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout confirmed with Planning Manager Mayer that the city did not 
need any further right of way for this application. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer answered that was correct. 

 
Commissioner Wallace stated that when Planner Nichols presented she noted that the 
black line was the commercial development but that was not what the map showed.  It 
seemed to that the orange space on the site map that seemed like they would want to drift 
up to the proposed north road stub.  The other thing he thought was suggested was that 
this went against the Strategic Plan.  He stated that it did not trouble him specifically at 
this point but it did trouble him philosophically. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer agreed and explained that historically staff has kept to the goals 
in the Strategic Plan, and that is the reason why this particular slide was included in the 
presentation. In this case, staff found it reasonable to allow this use.  Staff does not want 
to allow for retail creep but it makes sense to allow for some limited retail – doc in the 
box, low traffic and low intensity retail usage adjacent to the residential corridor, based 
on reasonableness and context.  
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that obviously the Strategic Plan is a prediction, and things 
change.  This did not trouble him because it made sense and there should be more access 
from the north, but it did deviate philosophically. 
 
Chair Kirby noted the white dashed line road.  The terminus of that for Bevelhymer 
allows for transition from less intense uses to more intense uses.  It provides a step-down 
so residents are not living behind the Aldi.  The road provides a border and stays the rural 
residential 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that one of the things staff is examining the 
possibility of doing a focus area study in 2024 for the remaining triangle of land.  Staff 
felt comfortable with this application but felt that more study was needed for the rest of 
the area. 
 
Commissioner Schell thanked Planning Manager Mayer and stated that he appreciated 
the study because he was primarily concerned with that exact issue – the commission 
being presented with application after application that undermined the Strategic Plan. 
 
Commissioner Larsen asked if Bevelhymer Road would remain a two-lane road. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  14 
 

Planning Manager Mayer explained that per the Strategic Plan, it should remain the rural 
typology and feel, so Bevelhymer will remain a two-lane road but additional access roads 
will be added to intersect with it so as to disperse traffic. 
 
Commissioner Larsen continued that his concern was that is a very narrow road, the 
striping is right at the edge and it is already dangerous. It does not seem as though it 
could handle more traffic. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer noted that was a great point, and explained the road will not be 
widened but it will be improved and a shoulder added. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout asked about the uses.  She understood some of the low-
intensity uses named, but questioned inclusion of a swim-school as a low-intensity use.  
She stated that she had been in a swim school parking lot and it was quite intense. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that he would let the applicant speak to that and 
added that staff examining the number of cars and there were fewer vehicular trips. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout continued that the swim-schools she had been to had classes 
scheduled every 30 minutes with six to eight kids in each class.  There was constant turn 
over. 
 
Planner Nichols agreed, she stated that the applicant could correct her if she is wrong but 
it was noted in conversations with the applicant that they anticipate the swim school’s 
peak hours would be when the adjacent uses, like a medical office or daycare center, 
were closed. 
 
Mr. Butler concurred and stated that the swim students would be in school during peak 
hours of the office buildings.  
 
Council Member Wiltrout stated that not all of the kids going to swim school are school-
aged. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that parking requirements are established for uses, and if 
a swim school is planned, the applicant will have to meet parking requirements. 
 
Mr. Butler answered that there is not a swim school planned at this time. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that the commission will review parking when it 
considers the final development plan. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether the uses were governed by the parking requirements. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded yes, parking would be reviewed and final 
development.  The applicant needs to meet and continue to meet their parking standards.  
The commission would also look at shared parking for this area. 
 
Commissioner Wallace asked whether, when final development comes, can they come in 
pieces or does it all have to come at once. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that they could come in pieces, they can phase 
however they would like. 

 
Chair Kirby asked whether this was rezoning or preliminary development as well. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  15 
 

Planning Manager Mayer responded that this is preliminary and rezoning.  He further 
stated that there would be a final development plan as well.  
 
Commissioner Larsen asked about the road to the east, whether it was a future road. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that the applicant could install the road in phases but 
the right of way dedication must be complete at development.  The final development 
plan will determine the phasing. 
 
Commissioner Larsen stated that he would want to encourage traffic from away from 
Bevelhymer and he does not think two curb cuts are needed on Bevelhymer.  He noted 
that traffic on Bevelhymer is already substantial.  He continued that he would like a 
condition to that effect. 
 
There was discussion about the access and traffic flow into the development, and the 
issues and considerations surrounding installing two curb cuts on Bevelhymer and the 
construction of the road to the east which would be stubbed to the north, and then 
removing one of the curb cuts on Bevelhymer when the future road to the north was 
constructed. 
 
Commissioner Larsen reiterated his concern that he did not think two curb cuts on 
Bevelhymer Road were warranted.  
 
Chair Kirby asked staff whether, if some right-of-way is dedicated to the northern road, 
how much leeway would they have to the north before they hit a setback limit. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer stated that staff contemplated that and he believed there was a 
lesser set back in that area because it was a residential road.  Planner Nichols added it 
was 25-feet.  He continued that this meets code as currently drafted, but it will be 
finalized at final development when the placement of the building has been determined. 
 
Chair Kirby stated, okay, they have got more than 25-feet now and continued that his 
objective was to present the minimum pain possible to the applicant tonight, and 
determine the best placement for the future road to the north was on a portion of his 
property. 
 
Mr. Butler responded that the property to the north was a 50 to 60-foot sliver which 
would be sufficient for the right of way. He was not sure whether Chair Kirby was asking 
for additional right of way dedication there, and given the space and the code 
requirements, it made sense that the road would go into that strip. 
 
Chair Kirby answered that they would start with an easement noting further that there 
was not 50 spare feet. 
 
Applicant Ehab Eskander, the property owner.  He stated that when they first started this 
project they were only looking to the Primrose School, and plans have evolved since 
then.  The property to the north was a 50-foot sliver.  They had already dedicated the 
property to the right.  This is the easiest transitional use for this property.  It didn’t make 
sense for the northern road to be on this property.  He explained that the second curb cut 
was needed for northern access and circulation, and he was hoping that if nothing else 
changes it can be put into effect. 
 
Chair Kirby asked staff and the commission whether it was relatively certain the road to 
the north would be constructed or whether the commission should make provision for it, 
knowing that it cannot be forced.  The track record for getting the roads is not perfect. 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  16 
 

 
Commissioner Larsen stated that he thought provision should be made here. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer stated that the commission’s track record for getting roads was 
good, and he further stated that not requiring the road now allows for flexibility.  The 
development patterns for the transitional area, the area to the north, or to the east is not 
yet known.   
 
Chair Kirby stated that he trusted that concerns regarding drawing the line between 
commercial land use and rural residential were taken seriously.  The road provides a clear 
boundary. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout stated that it was still unclear whether the area to the east 
would be included. 
 
Chair Kirby answered that that area gets strongly fought over but even if someone wants 
to fill it in, it is locked. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer added that is something we will have to do a focus area plan on 
and those are good questions. 
 
Chair Kirby added that this also may be a good update for the strategic plan.  He asked 
for further questions. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that street trees were 1 for every 30 feet but the text they 
had just approved required 4 per 100 which is 1 for 25, and wondered how much 
flexibility there was.  He acknowledged that there were different areas and requirements. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded stated that he thought the 4 per 100 was for 
additional buffer trees in addition to street trees, and that there are different standards for 
street trees and buffer trees.  Staff will fact check this, but it is typical in the business park 
to have different standards for the street trees and buffer trees behind the horse fence. 
 
Planner Nichols responded that the buffer here is 6 trees per 100-feet between the 
building and Bevelhymer. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that the text did not mention the eastern road.  He 
continued that he had some concerns about the text and thought the language could be 
tighter. He mentioned the tree distances, the calipers of the trees to be planted, and that 
there was no reference to where the measurement would be from.  He noted that the prior 
approval was with an applicant who had a lot of experience drafting zoning text. 
Nonetheless he had some concerns about this language.  He acknowledged that he did not 
have the opportunity to compare this text with text used by Canini and perhaps this text 
was similar. 
 
Planner Nichols said yes, and responded that this text is similar to the Walton/ 62 text, the 
applicant used that text as a model. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded that he was correct that there were differences and 
one of the goals here was to maintain the rural character of Bevelhymer Road.  He also 
explained that this is a PUD text, so the applicant can propose a lesser standard with 
slightly smaller trees in a greater quantity. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that there will be another opportunity to review these 
issues as part of the final development. 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  17 
 

 
Planning Manager Mayer responded absolutely and further noted that if the zoning text is 
silent on a particular issue, the city code will apply. 
 
Commissioner Larsen stated that he did not think the timing of the installation of the road 
to the east had been solidified. 
 
Chair Kirby responded that the new road goes in on day one. 
 
Mr. Butler agreed that it goes in on day one. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated that he thought it was the dedication that would happen on 
day one. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer clarified that staff was looking for the dedication but would 
clarify with the applicant the construction phasing of the right of way. 
 
Commissioner Larsen stated that a condition should be added so it is clear. 
 
Commissioner Schell stated he was concerned about the parking and traffic that would 
accompany a swim school. 
 
Mr. Butler responded that as of now, a swim school is not planned.  He explained that 
when it was considered, he thought that shared parking would be available and also that 
the swim school would be used during the time when kids were not in school. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout responded kids that are not yet in school will be using the 
swim school during the day, there would be overlapping use, and she worried that the 
parking lot would be overloaded. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether the applicant would agree to provide the projected usage of 
parking relevant during particular hours of the day. 
 
Mr. Butler stated that the busiest time for the use of the swim school was in the evening 
and he further agreed to the condition. 
 
Council Member Wiltrout asked staff to think about this mindfully.  She noted that it 
could get granular but to consider the number of change-overs and use, the number of 
cars, and the timing. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded yes and requested that it be added to the text that 
information needs to be provided for the commission’s review at final development. 
 
Commissioner Wallace noted for staff that the text provided that the ground mounted 
lighting shall be shielded by landscaping and he suggested that it be made subject to staff 
approval.  
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded sure, absolutely. 
 
Chair Kirby added that he is not a fan of up lighting, even for signs.  He continued that 
even for signs, the lighting could end up in the eyes of oncoming traffic.  It would be 
preferable to have lighting on the top that only washes down on the sign. Ground 
mounted lighting should light the subject only.  He asked the applicant how fond of up 
lighting he was. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  18 
 

Mr. Eskander responded that he was not a fan of up lighting for signs, and further that 
signs would be backlit. 

 
Commissioner Wallace stated the condition could provide that any up lighting is subject 
to staff approval. 
 
Commissioner Wallace stated in the sign section, F2, the language provided that it should 
conform with 2013 standards.  He asked whether anything had changed since then.  
 
Planning Manager Mayer responded no, those were the current standards and were used 
by Turkey Hill and Dairy Queen.  He further noted that maintaining consistency of 
signage standards over time eased wayfinding. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether downlighting was prohibited here, and noted that there were 
places where it was prohibited. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer answered no, downlighting was permitted here.  And further 
that lighting could certainly be reviewed by the commission at final development. 
 
Commissioner Wallace and Chair Kirby stated that the condition could provide that all 
lighting is subject to staff approval. 
 
Commissioner Larsen asked about language on page 7 in condition 5, regarding bicycle 
parking.  There appeared to be missing text.   
 
Planner Nichols explained that the text was not clear, and condition 5 sought to have the 
applicant update the text to clarify that bicycle parking was to be provided per building. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if there were further questions from the commission.  Hearing none, he 
opened the public hearing 
 
Debbie Klein, 6856 Bevelhymer Road. She stated that she was born and raised here and 
she lives right next to the subject property.  She has seen a lot of development and this 
one did not work for her.  This space is a gateway and this development is being 
squeezed in.  The road is minimal at best.  She stated that Bevelhymer will not remain 
residential if more development is added.  This land is a gateway from 62 to the 
residential area.  One of the things she has always loved about New Albany Council is to 
keep residents first.  This particular area is not even a ½ mile from Central College and 
this will add to our problems.  Based on the rhetoric here tonight the people don’t know 
with this one and we need to know that we know.  She stated that she was supportive of 
much of the development, but not this one. The traffic from Intel is not helping us.  We 
cannot minimize the fact of what is happening here.  If we open this up it will flood like a 
creek with too much stream in it.  She encouraged everyone to drive up and look at the 
property, there is not a lot of space here. This is too much right now and there is not 
enough space.  She stated that she wanted them to do the spare road but that it was not 
going to happen because it’s just too busy.  She thanked the commission and asked them 
to remember that is a gateway to residential. 
 
Commissioner Briggs thanked Ms. Klein for coming in, she noted that the hearing had 
been lengthy and that she [Ms. Klein] had waited for a long time. Then she and asked for 
the location of her home. 
 
Ms. Klein explained where she lived. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  19 
 

Council Member Wiltrout added her thanks and explained that this is just the first step 
and it is a concept.  Next it will be considered by Council.  It will then return to the 
commission for consideration of the details in the final development plan.  She stated that 
she did not want Ms. Klein to think that this was the end of the process, there was time. 
 
Ms. Klein responded that she understood and added that the Aldi has added a lot of 
pressure to this area. 
 
Jeff Lane 6850 Bevelhymer Road, just north of the flag lot.  He asked the commission to 
push back on this development and to uphold the Strategic Plan.  He stated that 
Bevelhymer Road is a drag race as it is.  He further stated that there are easements on the 
northern property that were in place in the 1960s when the homes were built.  He 
explained that he has an easement on the south end of his property.  He stated that the 
area for the daycare is just a stone’s throw from his home and he was not looking forward 
to the noise.  He continued that he does not want future development to the north and he 
did not believe other residents wanted it either. Regarding the focus area study of the 
triangle area, he believed that the area should remain as it is.  The Strategic Plan has 
maintained those areas as residential.  He noted that he would reserve some comments for 
future discussions.  He thanked the commission for the opportunity to speak. 
 
Chair Kirby thanked Mr. Lane, and told him that Council is the ultimate arbiter of zoning. 
 
Commissioner Briggs thanked him for coming in and waiting until almost 10:00 p.m. so 
that he could comment on this application. 
 
Chair Kirby asked the applicant whether he had easements. 
 
Mr. Eskander responded that he did not discover any easements that would impede them 
and that they did an Alta survey. 
 
Chair Kirby responded that, any easement on your property is yours and is in favor of 
you. 
 
Mr. Eskander responded correct. 
 
Commissioner Larsen asked staff whether there was an easement north of the property. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer answered that staff was not aware of any easements north of 
the property.  He further asked whether Mr. Lane shared his driveway. 
 
Mr. Lane responded no, he did not share a driveway and his research from the county and 
auditor indicated that the driveway was only the width of what a road would be so any 
kind of buffer would require an easement on his property.  He further mentioned a gas 
easement. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there were any other questions or comments.  Hearing none, 
he moved to admit the staff reports and related documents into the record for ZC-110-
2023.  Commissioner Wallace seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Larsen yes; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. 
Schell.  Having five yes votes, the motion passed and the staff reports and related 
documents were admitted into the record for ZC-110-2023. 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  20 
 

 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was a motion on the merits. 
 
Chair Kirby moved for approval of zoning change ZC-110-2023 based on the findings in 
the staff report and subject to the conditions 1 – 4 as stated in the staff report and the 
following amendment to condition 5 and the following additional conditions: 

• In condition 5., that the condition shall be updated require the zoning text to 
specify that the bicycle parking is per building. 

And the following additional conditions: 
• Condition 6., The installation of the new east road in the first phase. 
• Condition 7., That parking usage and the timing of usage, and additional 

information as required as part of the final development plan, especially for 
parking with sensitivity to timing of usage. 

• Condition 8., All lighting shall be subject to staff approval and review, with the 
goal of minimizing spill for up-lighting and that downlighting is permitted. 

 
Commissioner Wallace confirmed that the applicant agreed with the conditions as stated. 
 
Mr. Butler stated they had no objection.  
 
Commissioner Wallace seconded the motion.  Chair Kirby asked whether there was any 
discussion on the motion. 
 
Deputy Clerk Madriguera asked that the condition 7 be read again for her benefit. 

  
 Chair Kirby recited Condition 7., that additional information will be required at final 

development especially pertaining to parking and the timing of parking lot uses with an 
eye to compatible uses.  He asked whether there was any further discussion on the 
motion. 

 
 Hearing none, he asked to hear the roll. 
 
 Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Ms. Briggs no; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. 

Larsen no.  Having three yes votes, the motion passed subject to the conditions as stated 
above and ZC-110-2023 was favorably recommended to Council. 

 
 Commissioner Briggs explained that she voted no because she believes this area should 

not be rezoned.  It should retain its residential zoning classification instead becoming I-
PUD. 

 
 Commissioner Larsen explained that he voted no because rezoning would add to the 

existing traffic concerns at Bevelhymer Road, which should remain a rural road and 
should not have two curb cuts.  He further explained that the applicant had not adequately 
addressed parking.  And this application did not adequately maintain the character of the 
neighborhood. 

 
 Chair Kirby stated that Council should note that this almost did not pass and that it was a 

difficult case for him as well. 
 
 The commission wished the applicant good luck 
 
 Chair Kirby introduced the next case and asked to hear from staff.   

 
*FPL-114-2023 Preliminary and Final Plat 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  21 
 

Preliminary and final plat for phase 5 of the Nottingham Trace subdivision which 
includes 42 lots on 9.001 +/- acres (PID: 222-005265).  
Applicant: EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill 

 
*In the process of drafting the Record of Action following the December 4, 2023 
meeting, it was discovered that the correct case number is FPL-113-2023.  The Record of 
Action issued on December 5, 2023 lists the correct case number, FPL-113-2023.  
However, because the movants used FPL-114-2023 at the meeting, the minutes will 
remain consistent with what was actually said at the December 4, 2023 meeting.  
 
Planner II Christian delivered the staff reports for both Nottingham Trace applications 
with one presentation. 

 
 Chair Kirby asked if there were comments from engineering. 
 

Development Engineer Albright delivered the engineering report. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if the applicant had any comments. 
 
Applicant Curtiss Prill stated he was available for questions and had nothing to add. 
 
Commissioner Larsen asked for an overview of the density for all 6 phases. 
 
Planner II Christian responded that the development was a total of 240 lots and on the 
overall acreage, it was about 2.4 du/acre.  He added that the land was zoned to allow for 
the development of these last two phases. 

 
Commissioner Larsen asked whether this was an 80/20 age-restricted development. 
 
Planner II Christian responded yes, 80 % of the units must have 55+ residents and there is 
no restriction on the other units. 
 
Commissioner Larsen noted that there could be a school impact. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer answered yes, and explained that this was one of the first age-
restricted areas and was first approved in 2015.  Since then there have been 100% age-
restricted developments, but in line with the Federal standards. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any further discussion.  Hearing none, he moved to 
accept the staff reports and related documents into the record for FPL-114-2023.  
Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yea; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. 
Larsen yes. 
 
Having five yes votes, the motion passed and the staff reports and related documents 
were admitted to the record. 
 
Commissioner Schell moved for approval of FPL-114-2023 with the two conditions 
noted in the staff report.  Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion. 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  22 
 

Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Schell yes; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. 
Larsen yes.  Having five yes votes the motion passed and the application was approved. 
 
*FPL-115-2023 Preliminary and Final Plat 
Preliminary and final plat for phase 6 of the Nottingham Trace subdivision which 
includes 44 lots on 9.430 +/- acres (PID: 222-004443).  
Applicant: EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill 
 
*In the process of drafting the Record of Action following the December 4, 2023 
meeting, it was discovered that the correct case number is FPL-114-2023.  The Record of 
Action issued on December 5, 2023 lists the correct case number, FPL-114-2023.  
However, because the movants used FPL-115-2023 at the meeting, the minutes will 
remain consistent with what was actually said at the December 4, 2023 meeting. 
 
Chair Kirby moved to accept the staff reports and related documents into the record for 
FPL-115-2023.  Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Kirby yea; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Wallace yes; Mr. Schell yes; Mr. 
Larsen yes. 
 
Having five yes votes, the motion passed and the staff reports and related documents 
were admitted to the record. 
 
Commissioner Schell moved for approval of FPL-115-2023 with the two conditions 
noted in the staff report.  Commissioner Briggs seconded the motion. 
 
Chair Kirby asked whether there was any discussion on the motion.  Hearing none, he 
asked to hear the roll. 
 
Upon roll call:  Mr. Schell yes; Ms. Briggs yes; Mr. Larsen yes; Mr. Kirby yes; Mr. 
Wallace yes.  Having five yes votes the motion passed and the application was approved. 

 
VII. Other business 

Chair Kirby asked if there was any other business. 
 
Planning Manager Mayer stated none from staff. 

 
VIII. Poll members for comment 

Chair Kirby polled the members for comment.  None of the members had a comment. 
 

IX. Adjournment 
Having no further business, Chair Kirby adjourned the December 4, 2023 meeting of the 
New Albany Planning Commission at 10:05 p.m. 

 
Submitted by Deputy Clerk Madriguera, Esq. 
 
 
 
 



   

23 1204 DRAFT PC meeting minutes  23 
 

 
 
Appendix 
 
FDP-87-2023 
 Record of Action 
FPL-88-2023 
 Record of Action 
FPL-91-2023 
 Record of Action 
FPL-92-2023 
 Record of Action 
ZC-107-2023 
 Staff Report 
 Record of Action 
ZC-110-2023 
 Staff Report 
 Record of Action 
FPL-113-2023 [FPL-114-2023] 
 Staff Report  
 Record of Action 
FPL-114-2023 [FPL-115-2023] 
 Staff Report 
 Record of Action 



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Aaron Underhill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New 
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make 
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can 
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community 
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to 
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 5, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Development Plan

Location: Central College Rd

Applicant: EC New Vision Ohio LLC, c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq.

Application: FDP-87-2023

Request: Final development plan review and approval of 151 lot, age-restricted residential housing 
development on 63.5+/- acres for the subdivision known as the Courtyards at Haines Creek located at 
8390 and 8306 Central College Road in Franklin County.
Motion: To table FDP-87-2023 until the January 17, 2024 regular meeting.

Commission Vote: Motion Table, 5-0

Result: FDP-87-2023 was Tabled to the January 17, 2024 Rnformal meeting, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 5, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

N/A 

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols 
Planner



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Aaron Underhill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New 
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make 
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can 
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community 
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to 
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 5, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Development Plan

Location: Central College Road

Applicant: EC New Vision Ohio LLC, c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq.

Application: FDP-88-2023

Request: Preliminary and final plat for phase one of Courtyards at Haines Creek located at 8390 and 
8306 Central College Road in Franklin County.
Motion: To table FPL-88-2023 to the January 17, 2024 regular meeting.

Commission Vote: Motion Table, 5-0

Result: FPL-88-2023 was Tabled to the January 17th regular meeting, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 4, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

N/A 

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols 
Planner



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Aaron Underill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New 
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make 
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can 
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community 
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to 
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 5, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Development Plan

Location: Central College Road 

Applicant: EC New Vision Ohio LLC, c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq.

Application: FDP-91-2023

Request: Preliminary and final plat for phase two of Courtyards at Haines Creek located at 8390 
and 8306 Central College Road in Franklin County.
Motion: To table FPL-91-2023 to the January 17, 2024 regular meeting.

Commission Vote: Motion Table, 5-0

Result: FPL-91-2023 was Tabled to the January 17, 2024 regular meeting, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 5, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

N/A 

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols 
Planner



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Aaron Underhill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New 
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make 
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can 
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community 
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to 
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 5, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Development Plan

Location: Central College Road

Applicant: EC New Vision Ohio LLC, c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq.

Application: FDP-92-2023

Request: Preliminary and final plat for phase three of Courtyards at Haines Creek located at 
8390 and 8306 Central College Road in Franklin County.
Motion: To table FPL-92-2023 to the January 17, 2024 regular meeting.

Commission Vote: Motion Table, 5-0

Result: FPL-92-2023 was Tabled to the January 17, 2024 regular meeting, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 5, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

N/A 

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols 
Planner



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  1 of 7   

 

 

 

 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

December 4, 2023 Meeting 

  

 

NORTH CITY BUSINESS ZONING DISTRICT 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

 

 

LOCATION:   7270 New Albany Condit Road (PIDs: 222-005258 and 222-005259) 

APPLICANT:   The New Albany Company, LLC c/o Aaron L. Underhill, Esq. 

REQUEST: Zoning Amendment   

ZONING:   I-PUD Infill Planned Development to L-GE Limited General 

Employment  

STRATEGIC PLAN:  Employment Center 

APPLICATION: ZC-107-2023 

 

Review based on: Application materials received October 20, 2023 and November 6, 2023.   

Staff report completed by Chelsea Nichols, Planner. 

 

I. REQUEST AND BACKGROUND  

The applicant requests a review and recommendation to rezone approximately 12.737 acres.  The 

request creates a new limitation text for the area known as the “North City Business Zoning 

District” by zoning the area to Limited General Employment (L-GE). The proposed rezoning 

facilitates the development of uses found throughout the New Albany International Business 

Park. 

 

In 2021, this property was approved with an I-PUD zoning designation (Cornerstone Academy I-

PUD District) to facilitate the development and operation of a public charter school campus for 

Cornerstone Academy. After that rezoning was approved, Cornerstone entered into a lease with 

the owner of an existing building located at 7525 West Campus Road, formerly known as 

NACOT I.  The intent was to provide a temporary location for Cornerstone High School until 

such time as the new campus could be developed on the property that is the subject of this 

application.  However, the use of the building was a great fit for the school, and Cornerstone 

Academy has now determined that it would like to remain on that site permanently and also 

acquire an adjacent building and other improved and unimproved real property to develop its 

campus at that other location. As part of that plan, Cornerstone Academy is acquiring an 

undeveloped parcel that is owned by NACO in exchange for the transfer of the property within 

this Zoning District to NACO.  NACO seeks to rezone the property it is acquiring into the L-GE 

zoning classification, which was the zoning of the property before the approval of the 

Cornerstone Academy I-PUD.   

 

The site is located in the Engage New Albany strategic plan’s Employment Center future land use 

district. The zoning district meets the recommended use and development standards found in the 

Engage New Albany strategic plan. The text contains the same list of permitted, conditional, and 

prohibited uses as other similar zoning districts that are also zoned Limited General Employment (L-

GE). This rezoning extends the same or similar zoning and development standards to this property as 

currently apply to its neighboring commercially zoned property in the general vicinity.  

 

This application is solely for rezoning the site. The Rocky Fork-Blacklick Accord reviewed and 

recommended approval of the application on November 16, 2023 by a 9-0 vote. 

 

 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  2 of 7   

II. SITE DESCRIPTION & USE 

The overall site consists of 2 parcels and is located within Franklin County. The site is located to 

the northwest of and adjacent to the intersection of New Albany-Condit Road and New Albany 

Road East. The property is presently undeveloped and is generally bisected from southwest to 

northeast by a 110-foot wide gas line easement.  

 

Neighboring uses and zoning districts include Office Campus District, Limited General 

Employment, Agriculture, and Infill Planned Unit Development. The site does not directly abut 

any residential parcels; however, there is a home located in the agricultural zoned property 

located immediately to the northeast of the site across New Albany-Condit Road. Subarea “B” of 

the Nottingham Trace subdivision is located on the north side of the property. This subarea is 

slated for commercial development at a later date. Reserve “C” of the Nottingham Trace 

subdivision is located diagonally to the northwest of the site and includes 23.7 acres of parkland.  

 

III. PLAN REVIEW 

Planning Commission’s review authority of the zoning amendment application is found under 

C.O. Chapters 1107.02 and 1159.09. Upon review of the proposed amendment to the zoning map, 

the Commission is to make a recommendation to City Council. The property owners within 200 

feet of the property in question have been notified. 

 

Staff’s review is based on city plans and studies, proposed zoning text, and the codified 

ordinances. Primary concerns and issues have been indicated below, with needed action or 

recommended action in underlined text.  

 

Per Codified Ordinance Chapter 1111.06 in deciding on the change, the Planning Commission 

shall consider, among other things, the following elements of the case: 

(a) Adjacent land use. 

(b) The relationship of topography to the use intended or to its implications. 

(c) Access, traffic flow. 

(d) Adjacent zoning. 

(e) The correctness of the application for the type of change requested. 

(f) The relationship of the use requested to the public health, safety, or general welfare. 

(g) The relationship of the area requested to the area to be used. 

(h) The impact of the proposed use on the local school district(s). 

 

A. New Albany Strategic Plan  

The Engage New Albany 2020 strategic plan lists the following development standards for 

the Employment Center: 

1. No freeway/pole signs are allowed. 

2. Heavy landscaping is necessary to buffer these uses from adjacent residential areas [a 

landscaping plan can be submitted at a later date]. 

3. Plan office buildings within context of the area, not just the site, including building 

heights within development parcels. 

4. All office developments are encouraged to employ shared parking or be designed to 

accommodate it. 

5. All office developments should plan for regional stormwater management. 

6. All associated mechanical operations should be concealed from the public right-of-way 

and screened architecturally or with landscape in an appealing manner. 

7. Any periphery security should integrate with the existing landscape and maintain and 

enhance the character of the road corridor. 

8. Combined curb cuts and cross-access easements are encouraged. 

9. The use of materials, colors, and texture to break up large-scale facades is required. 

10. Maximum building height is 80’.  

11. Streetscape Roadway Character Classification is Business Park for New Albany Road 

East and Business Park Transitional for New Albany-Condit Road (see Table 1, below). 

12. Parking should be located in rear of building and shared parking. 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  3 of 7   

 

B. Use, Site and Layout 

1. The proposed zoning text is a limitation text. A limitation text can only establish more 

restrictive requirements than the zoning code.  

2. The applicant proposes the same development standards from nearby L-GE zoning 

districts within the New Albany International Business Park. Due to the proximity of 

this site to adjacent commercially zoned land in the existing business park, the site 

appears to be appropriate for commercial development.   

3. This district has the same list of permitted, conditional, and prohibited General 

Employment uses as the neighboring L-GE zoning districts.  

o The limitation text allows for general office activities, data centers, warehouse 

& distribution, manufacturing and production, and research & production uses. 

Personal service and retail product sales and services are only allowed as 

accessory uses to a permitted use in this zoning district.    

o Conditional uses industrial manufacturing and assembly, car fleet/truck fleet 

parking, and limited educational institutions. 

o Prohibited uses include industrial product sales and services, mini-warehouses, 

off-premises signs, vehicle services, radio/television broadcast facilities, and 

sexually oriented businesses.   

4. The text establishes the following setbacks: 

o There shall be a minimum pavement and building setback of 125 feet from the 

right-of-way of New Albany-Condit Road and New Albany Road East. 

o There shall be a minimum pavement and building setback of 25 feet from all 

perimeter boundaries of this zoning district that are not adjacent to a public 

right-of-way. 

o There shall be a zero-setback requirement for pavement and buildings from 

property lines that are interior to this zoning district (i.e., those property lines 

which are not perimeter boundary lines). 

5. The text contains the same provision for elimination of setbacks for building and 

pavement when this zoning district and any adjacent parcel located outside of this 

zoning district come under common ownership, are zoned to allow compatible non-

residential uses, and are combined into a single parcel.  

6. The primary challenge of the site is the location of the 110’ gas easement which runs 

diagonally from the northeast to southwest corner of the site and bisects the site. No 

development can occur in this easement, other than access drives which must cross the 

easement precisely at 90 degrees. This easement, along with the large 125’ building and 

pavement setbacks, limit the size and type of development that can occur on this site.  

7. The standards incorporated into the zoning text are compatible with the surrounding area. 

The proposed zoning text will allow development to occur that will utilize the space 

available for development and leaves the remainder open for landscaping and green 

space.  

 

C. Access, Loading, Parking  

1. The zoning text states that the number, locations and spacing of curb cuts along public 

rights-of-way shall be determined and approved at the time that a certificate of 

appropriateness is issued for a project in this zoning district.  

2. The proposed text requires right-of-way to be dedicated to the city for a distance of 50 

feet as measured from the centerline of New Albany-Condit Road and for a distance of 

50 feet as measured from the centerline of New Albany Road East. 

o The city engineer comments that this amount of right-of-way is already provided 

along New Albany Road East but an additional 10 feet of public right-of-way is 

needed to be dedicated along New Albany-Condit Road where 50 feet is not 

already provided. Staff recommends a condition of approval that all city 

engineer’s comments be addressed, subject to staff approval (condition #1). 

3. In addition to right-of-way amounts, the city staff is recommending a condition of 

approval that the text be revised to require the property owner to grant easements 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  4 of 7   

adjacent to the right-of-way in order to install and maintain streetscape improvements 

and/or utilities. The proposed right-of-way widths and easement requirements are to be 

sufficient to accommodate the city street capital improvement projects (condition #2).  

4. Parking is required be provided per code requirements (Chapter 1167) and will be 

evaluated at the time of development of the site.   

5. An existing asphalt leisure trail with a width of 8 feet has been constructed along the 

zoning district’s frontage along New Albany Road East. An asphalt leisure trail with a 

width of 8 feet shall be constructed by the applicant/developer along the zoning district’s 

frontage on New Albany-Condit Road.  This leisure trail shall be constructed to connect 

to the existing leisure trail that is located along the site’s frontage on New Albany Road 

East.   

 

D. Architectural Standards 

6. The proposed rezoning implements many of the same standards and limitations set forth 

in the New Albany Architectural Design Guidelines and Requirements (Chapter 1157). 

However, the city Design Guidelines and Requirements (DGRs) do not provide 

architectural standards for warehouse and distribution type of facilities. Due to the 

inherent size and nature of these facilities, careful attention must be paid to their design to 

ensure they are appropriately integrated into the rest of the business park. This limitation 

text contains specific design requirements for uses not governed by the DGRs as those in 

other subareas of the business park, which ensures the quality design of these buildings 

throughout this portion of the business park.  

7. The zoning text section V.A. permits 65-foot-tall buildings, subject to Section 1165.03 of 

the Codified Ordinances. The General Employment district does not typically have a 

height limitation. However, there are other L-GE districts that do implement a height 

restriction usually allowing up to 85-foot tall buildings. There are some L-GE districts 

that require a height maximum of 65 feet when adjacent to residential uses.  

8. Section I.E.6 of the zoning text requires complete screening of all roof-mounted 

equipment on all four sides of the building using materials that are consistent and 

harmonious with the building’s façade and character. The text indicates that the screening 

is provided to screen equipment from off-site view but also to buffer sound generated by 

the equipment.  

9. The city staff recommends a condition of approval that the zoning text be updated to 

require building color palettes be as simple and unobtrusive as possible and that buildings 

shall avoid overly bright or jarring colors. The addition of this language will ensure 

constancy within the business park as this language has been established for other zoning 

districts where L-GE uses are also permitted (condition #3).  

 

E. Parkland, Buffering, Landscaping, Open Space, Screening  

1. Maximum lot coverage for this zoning district is 75%.  This matches what has been 

established for other zoning districts where L-GE uses are also permitted 

2. The proposed zoning text states reasonable and good faith efforts will be made to 

preserve existing trees and tree rows occurring within perimeter and stream setbacks in 

this subarea.  Standard tree preservation practices will be in place to preserve and protect 

trees during all phases of construction, including the installation of snow fencing at the 

drip line.    

3. The zoning text requires a landscape treatment consisting of an average of 10 trees per 

100 lineal feet of road frontage shall be installed and maintained along New Albany-

Condit Road and New Albany Road East within a distance of 55 feet from the right-of-

way, unless otherwise prohibited by an existing gas line easement that runs through the 

property. These trees shall consist of a mix of deciduous and evergreen species that are 

native to Ohio, with the locations, number, and spacing to be reviewed as part of a plan at 

the time of permitting.  

4. Mounds shall be installed where possible, subject to the city landscape architect, and 

trees shall be installed on a mound that has a slope not to exceed 6:1 on the side facing 

the public street. The mound shall be a minimum of 3 feet and a maximum of 12 feet in 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  5 of 7   

height, and its design shall be reviewed as part of a final development plan. Seventy 

percent of required trees shall be planted on the street side of the mound, and no trees 

shall be located within the upper quartile crest of the mound. 

5. A four-board white horse fence has been installed along the zoning district’s frontage 

along New Albany Road East. A four-board white horse fence shall be installed along the 

zoning district’s frontage on New Albany-Condit Road.  The existing four-board white 

horse fence along New Albany Road East shall remain. 

6. The zoning text requires a Stream Corridor Protection Zone to be provided along the 

stream that generally runs east-west along the northern boundary line of this Zoning 

District. It shall be a minimum of 50 feet in width as measured southward from the 

centerline of the stream, it being the intent that a similar protection zone shall be provided 

by the property owners located to the north of the stream. Within the Stream Corridor 

Protection Zone, no improvements shall be permitted other than landscaping, and an 

asphalt leisure path running east-west with a location to be approved by City staff. Such 

leisure path shall connect to New Albany-Condit Road on the east and shall stub to the 

existing off-site public park to the northwest of this Zoning District.  

7. Existing street trees along New Albany Road East shall remain and be maintained.  Street 

trees shall be installed on New Albany-Condit Road at the rate of 4 trees per 100 linear 

feet. Street trees shall be a minimum of 3 inches in caliper at installation.   

8. The zoning text requires all new utilities that are installed in this zoning district be 

located underground. 

 

F. Lighting & Signage 

1. All signage shall conform to the standards set forth in Codified Ordinance Section 1169. 

2. The text requires that all parking lot and private driveway lighting shall be cut-off type 

fixtures and down cast.  Parking lot lighting shall be from a controlled source in order to 

minimize light spilling beyond the boundaries of the site. All parking lot light poles shall 

be black or New Albany green and constructed of metal. Light poles shall not exceed 30 

feet in height.  

3. No permanent colored lights or neon lights shall be used on the exterior of any building. 

Security lighting shall be of a motion sensor type.  

4. All other lighting on the site shall be in accordance with City Code. Street lighting must 

meet the City standards and specifications. 

5. Landscape uplighting from a concealed source shall be subject to staff approval. All 

uplighting fixtures must be screened by landscaping. Lighting details shall be included in 

the landscape plan which is subject to review and approval by the City Landscape 

Architect. 

 

IV.  ENGINEER’S COMMENTS 

The City Engineer, E.P. Ferris reviewed the proposed rezoning application and provided the 

following comments. Staff recommends a condition of approval that the comments of the city 

engineer comments are addressed and incorporated into the zoning text as appropriate, subject to 

staff approval (condition #1). 

1. A Traffic Impact Study will be required for review and approval once a development 

project is identified for this site. 

2. The rezoning text states that 50’ of public r/w as measured from road centerline will be 

provided along NA Road East and SR 605.  This condition is already met along NA Road 

East. An additional 10’ of public r/w will need to be dedicated along SR 605 where 50’ is 

not already provided. 

 

 

 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  6 of 7   

V. SUMMARY 

This property had previously been zoned L-GE prior to the Cornerstone I-PUD rezoning. The 

proposed limitation text contains many of the same requirements as the previous L-GE text. It 

also contains a few improvements and clarifications learned from the Cornerstone rezoning 

regarding the gas easement and trail along the creek to the north of the site. 

 

The limitation text provides for stricter limitations in use and design than the straight General 

Employment zoning districts and retains many of the requirements found in other existing and 

previously approved L-GE zoning texts. Due to the proximity of this location adjacent to 

commercially zoned land in the existing New Albany Business Park, the site appears to be 

appropriate for commercial development.  

 

It appears that the proposed zoning text meets or exceeds a majority of the development 

standards found in both the Engage New Albany Strategic Plan.  

 

1. The rezoning results in a more comprehensive planned redevelopment of the area and 

will ensure compatibility between uses (1111.06(a)).  

2. The L-GE rezoning application is an appropriate application for the request (1111.06(e)).  

3. The overall effect of the development advances and benefits the general welfare of the 

community (1111.06(f)).  

4. The proposed rezoning allows for the development of businesses that generate revenue 

for the school district while eliminating residential units having a positive impact on the 

school district (1111.06(h)).  

 

VI. ACTION 

Suggested Motion for ZC-107-2023:  

 

Should the Planning Commission find that the application has sufficient basis for approval, the 

following motion would be appropriate:  

 

Move to recommend approval to city council of application ZC-107-2023, based on the 

findings in the staff report, with the following conditions: 

1. The comments of the city engineer shall be addressed and incorporated into the zoning 

text as appropriate, subject to staff approval. 

2. The text shall be revised to require the property owner to grant easements adjacent to the 

right-of-way in order to install and maintain streetscape improvements and/or utilities. 

The proposed right-of-way widths and easement requirements are to be sufficient enough 

to accommodate the city street capital improvement projects. 

3. The zoning text be updated to require building color palettes be as simple and 

unobtrusive as possible and that buildings shall avoid overly bright or jarring colors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PC 23 1204 North City Business Zoning District Rezoning ZC-107-2023  7 of 7   

Approximate Site Location: 
 

 
Source: ArcGIS 

 



Ci 
 

Page 1 of 1 

 

City of New Albany 
99 West  Main Street 
New Albany, Ohio 43054 

MEMO 

 

         401.60-149 
         November 8, 2023 
To:  Chelsea Nichols      
 City Planner 
  
From:  Matt Ferris, P.E., P.S., Consulting City Engineer  Re: Cornerstone -  
By: Jay M. Herskowitz, P.E., BCEE    Rezoning   

 
 
Our review comments are as follows:   
 

1) We will require a Traffic Impact Study for review and approval once a development 
project is identified for this site. 

2) The rezoning text states that 50’ of public r/w as measured from road centerline will be 
provided along NA Road East and SR 605.  This condition is already met along NA 
Road East.  An additional 10’ of public r/w will need to be dedicated along SR 605 where 
50’ is not already provided. 

 
MEF/JMH 
 
CC:  Cara Denny, Engineering Manager 
 Josh Albright, Development Engineer 
 Dave Samuelson, P.E., Traffic Engineer 

 
 
 



















123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Aaron Underhill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 05, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Zoning Amendment

Location: 7270 NEW ALBANY CONDIT RD
Applicant: Aaron Underhill, Esq.

Application: PLZC20230107
Request: Rezoning
Motion: Move to Approve

Commission Vote: Motion Approved with Conditions

Result: Zoning Amendment, PLZC20230107 was Approved with Conditions, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this

Condition(s) of Approval:

1. The comments of the city engineer shall be addressed and incorporated into the zoning text as
appropriate, subject to staff approval, with particular reference to the traffic study.
2. The text shall be revised to require the property owner to grant easements adjacent to the right-of-way in
order to install and maintain streetscape improvements and/or utilities. The proposed right-of-way widths
and easement requirements are to be sufficient enough to accommodate the city street capital improvement
projects.
3. The zoning text be updated to require building color palettes be as simple and unobtrusive as possible
and that buildings shall avoid overly bright or jarring colors, subject to the city architect at the time of
review.
4. The text (section V.C.5.) shall be updated to state Solar Panel are subject to current or future code
sections.

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols
Planner



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  1 of 7 

 

 
 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

December 4, 2023 Meeting 
     

 

WALTON FARMS ZONING DISTRICT 

ZONING AMENDMENT  

 

 

LOCATION:  6734 through 6800 Bevelhymer Road (PIDs: 222-000619, 222-000620, 

222-000621) 

APPLICANT: Stephen Butler     

REQUEST: Zoning Change  

ZONING:   Residential (R-1) to Infill Planned Unit Development (I-PUD) 

STRATEGIC PLAN: Residential 

APPLICATION: ZC-110-2023 

 

Review based on: Application materials received on November 3, 2023 and November 21, 2023. 

Staff report completed by Chelsea Nichols, Planner 

 

I. REQUEST AND BACKGROUND  

The applicant requests review and recommendation to the city council to rezone 5.23+/- acres 

to Infill Planned Unit Development (I-PUD) from Residential (R-1). This application proposes 

to rezone three parcels located northeast of the intersection of Bevelhymer Road and Walton 

Parkway, and north of the intersection of Walton Parkway and US-62, to create a new zoning 

district to be known as the Walton Farms Zoning District.  

 

The proposed text allows for all uses within C-1, such as offices, personal services and retail, 

nursery schools and day care facilities, religious facilities, and veterinary offices (not including 

kennels).  Swim schools shall also be permitted. This zoning district serves as a transitional area 

between the more intensive commercial uses to the south and the existing residential to the north. 

 

This application is solely for rezoning the site. A preliminary site plan was submitted with this 

application but is subject to final review and approval as part of a final development plan application 

that will be evaluated by the Planning Commission at a later date. 

 

The Rocky Fork-Blacklick Accord reviewed and recommended approval, with one condition, of 

the application on November 16, 2023 by a 9-0 vote. The condition of approval is that the 

applicant shall attempt to preserve existing trees.  

 

II. SITE DESCRIPTION & USE 

The zoning district is located on east side of Bevelhymer road, northeast of the intersection of 

Bevelhymer Road and Walton Parkway, and north of the intersection of Walton Parkway and US-

62 in Franklin County. The neighboring uses and zoning districts include I-PUD to the south and 

west; as well as residential to the north, east and west. The site currently consists of three lots. 

The northern and southern most lots each contain one single-family home. The middle lot is 

undeveloped.  

  

III. PLAN REVIEW 

Planning Commission’s review authority of the zoning amendment application is found under 

C.O. Sections 1107.02 and 1159. Upon review of the proposed amendment to the zoning map, the 

Commission is to make a recommendation to the city council. Staff’s review is based on City 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  2 of 7 

plans and studies, zoning text, and zoning regulations. Primary concerns and issues have been 

indicated below, with needed action or recommended action in underlined text.    

 

Per Codified Ordinance Chapter 1111.06 in deciding on the change, the Planning Commission shall 

consider, among other things, the following elements of the case: 

(a) Adjacent land use. 

(b) The relationship of topography to the use intended or to its implications. 

(c) Access, traffic flow. 

(d) Adjacent zoning. 

(e) The correctness of the application for the type of change requested. 

(f) The relationship of the use requested to the public health, safety, or general welfare. 

(g) The relationship of the area requested to the area to be used. 

(h) The impact of the proposed use on the local school district(s). 

 

A. Engage New Albany Strategic Plan  

The 2020 Engage New Albany strategic plan designates the area as Residential future land 

use category. However, given the proposed rezoning, staff has evaluated this proposal against 

the Retail standards. The strategic plan lists the following development standards for the 

Employment Center land use category: 

1. Parking areas should promote pedestrians by including walkways and landscaping to 

enhance visual aspects of the development. 

2. Combined curb cuts and cross-access easements are encouraged. 

3. Curb cuts on primary streets should be minimized and well-organized connections 

should be created within and between all retail establishments. 

4. Combined curb cuts and cross-access easements between parking areas are preferred 

between individual buildings.  

5. Retail building entrances should connect with pedestrian network and promote 

connectivity through the site.  

6. Integrate outdoor spaces for food related businesses.  

 

B. Use, Site and Layout 

1. The proposed text rezones a total of 5.23+/- acres Residential (R-1) to Infill Planned Unit 

Development (I-PUD). 

2. The 2020 Engage New Albany Strategic Plan designates the area as Residential future 

land use category. However, given the proposed rezoning, staff has evaluated this 

proposal against the Retail standards. The development’s location is a transitional area 

between the more intensive commercial uses to the south and the existing residential to 

the north. In addition, the district allows commercial uses serving the regular day-to-day 

needs of nearby residents. 

3. The proposed use is consistent with the zoning in the surrounding areas. Due to the 

proximity of this site to the State Route 161/Johnstown Road interchange and its 

location adjacent to commercially zoned land in Walton-62 I-PUD Zoning District, and 

other retail and restaurant uses within the Canini Trust Corp., the site is appropriate for 

retail development.  
4. The proposed text allows for all uses within C-1, such as offices, personal services and 

retail, nursery schools and day care facilities, religious facilities, and veterinary offices 

(not including kennels).  Swim schools shall also be permitted. 

5. The following uses shall be prohibited in the development: 

a. Billboards and other off-premises signs, subject to the regulations of Section 

1169.08(e). 

b. Armory. 

c. Sexually Oriented Businesses. 

d. Self-service laundries. 

e. Commercial radio transmitting or television station and appurtenances. 

f. Funeral Parlor. 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  3 of 7 

g. Gasoline service stations, or retail convenience stores selling gasoline as an 

ancillary activity. 

h. Kennels. 

i. Residential uses. 

4. The applicant is proposing the following setbacks. All setbacks are measured from 

right-of-way unless otherwise noted. 

a. Bevelhymer Road:  There shall be a minimum pavement setback of 45 feet and 

a minimum building setback of 50 feet from Bevelhymer Road right-of-way.  

Patios, porches, awnings, and similar architectural elements can encroach up to 

5 feet into the building setbacks. 

o The Engage New Albany Strategic Plan classifies this section of 

Bevelhymer Road as transitioning from rural roadway to business park 

roadway characteristics. Due to the proximity of adjacent 

commercially zoned and used properties, the street improvements in 

front of this site shall follow the recommended business park roadway 

characteristics found on page 106 of the strategic plan. The proposed 

setback within the zoning text accomplishes the plan’s 

recommendations. 
b. Perimeters: There shall be a minimum pavement setback of 10 feet and a 

minimum building setback of 25 feet from all perimeter boundary lines of this 

Zoning District. 

o The neighborhood roadway characteristic must be achieved for the 

proposed road along the eastern boundary of the site. The proposed 

setbacks facilitate in achieving this.  

c. Interior Boundaries: Setbacks along all internal property boundaries between 

adjoining parcels within this Zoning District shall be zero for all buildings and 

pavement unless otherwise specified in this text. 

o This meets requirements of the Engage New Albany Strategic Plan as 

combined curb cuts and cross-access easements between parking areas 

are preferred between individual buildings.  

 
C. Access, Loading, Parking  

1. Vehicular access to the zoning district is provided from two full access curb cuts on 

Bevelhymer Road. However, the northern most access point is required be removed, 

if/when the future public road to the north and adjacent to the development is 

constructed. This meets standards of the Engage New Albany strategic plan as it calls for 

curb cuts on primary streets to be minimized and well-organized connections should be 

created within and between all retail establishments. 

2. The developer shall dedicate right-of-way along Bevelhymer Road to the city of New 

Albany for a distance of 40 feet as measured from the centerline of Bevelhymer Road. 

The developer shall grant easements to the city of New Albany adjacent to the rights of 

way in order to install and maintain streetscape improvements and/or utilities. The 

proposed right-of-way width and easements are to be sufficient enough to accommodate 

the City street capital improvement projects. The City Engineer reviewed the public 

right-of-way commitments and has indicated that they are appropriate. 

3. The text requires the construction of a new public street on the east side of the site. The 

proposed public road connects the existing street stub located to the south and a potential 

future road connection to the north. Per the zoning text, the developer shall dedicate 50 

feet of right-of-way. Two full access curb cuts are proposed from this proposed public 

street.  

4. The neighborhood roadway characteristic must be achieved for the proposed road along 

the eastern boundary of the site. This roadway characteristic is described in the Engage 

New Albany strategic plan. The following commitments are included for this roadway in 

the proposed zoning text for the site: 

a. Fifty feet of right-of-way shall be provided; 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  4 of 7 

b. Within the right-of-way, a 6’ tree lawn and 5’ wide concrete sidewalk shall be 

provided on both sides of the road as development occurs; and 

c. A 10-foot pavement and 25-foot building setback shall be provided as 

measured from the right-of-way line of this new roadway.  

5. Vehicular circulation within the development generally shall be provided in accordance 

with the preliminary development plan that accompanies this text, with locations to be 

finalized at the time of final development plan approval. Internal drives may be provided 

as approved as part of a final development plan to provide efficiency of traffic movement 

within individual parcels. 

6. Parking will be provided per the city’s parking code requirements (Chapter 1167).  

7. An 8-foot-wide asphalt leisure trail is required to be installed along the Bevelhymer Road 

frontage of the site. 

8. A 5-foot wide concrete sidewalk shall be installed on the west side of the new public 

street and is to be constructed generally along or parallel to the drive as it runs along the 

rear boundary. The city staff recommends a condition of approval that the zoning text be 

updated to clarify this requirement (condition #4).  

9. Individual parcels within the development shall establish at least one pedestrian 

connection to the sidewalk in some form, to be reviewed at the time of final development 

plan. Each building shall have a concreate sidewalk between its front façade and adjacent 

parking areas. 

10. Per the zoning text, bicycle parking shall be provided on each parcel at the rate of one 

space per 2,500 square feet of gross building floor area located on that parcel, provided 

that in no circumstance shall any parcel be required to provide more than 10 bicycle 

parking spaces. The city staff recommends a condition of approval that the zoning text be 

updated to clarify that this requirement is per parcel and per each business within the 

development (condition #5).  

 

D. Architectural Standards 

1. The City’s Design Guidelines and Requirements shall apply to this Zoning District. Any 

variation from the DGRs will require a variance application to be heard by the Planning 

Commission with a final development plan application. 

2. The proposed zoning limits any single retail user space to 14,100 square feet of gross 

floor area of a building. 

3. Buildings shall be designed to be seen from 360 degrees with the same caliber of finish 

on all facades/elevations. 

4. The maximum building height (as measured per the Codified Ordinances) shall not 

exceed 35 feet. The maximum number of stories shall not exceed one and a half stories. 

This restriction on the number of stories is appropriate given this rezoning serves as a 

transitional area between the more intensive commercial uses to the south and the 

existing residential to the north. 

5. The same palette of exterior finishes and color shall be used on all sides of a building. 

Brick, brick veneer, metal, cementitious products such as Hardiplank or its equivalent, 

wood, EIFS and composite material may be used as exterior wall finish materials where 

approved. Vinyl as an exterior material is prohibited. This is consistent with other I-PUD 

zoning districts in the area. This also meets city code and the city’s DGRs. 

6. The city’s DGRs require an operable and active front door to be provided along all public 

roads. 

 

E. Parkland, Buffering, Landscaping, Open Space, Screening 

1. There shall be a maximum impervious lot coverage of 80% in this zoning district, which 

is the same requirement as other nearby commercially zoned I-PUD zoning districts.  

2. Deciduous street trees are required within the rights-of-way along Bevelhymer Road. 

Trees are to be a minimum of two-inch caliper and shall be provided at an average of 1 

tree for every 30 linear feet of frontage on center. 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  5 of 7 

3. Along the unnamed public road connection on the east side of the development, a double 

row of street trees shall be provided on the West side of the public road. 

4. A four-board white horse fence shall be installed along Bevelhymer Road, except where 

vehicular or pedestrian access points for the development are provided. The white horse 

fence shall be extended along the entire frontage of Bevelhymer Road. 

5. Any surface parking areas adjacent to Bevelhymer Road shall be screened from the 

respective rights-of-way with a minimum of a 30-inch tall continuous planting hedge, 

fence, wall or earth mound or any combination of the foregoing. The 30-inch height shall 

be measured from the adjacent parking area. This same screening shall apply to the new 

public street on the east side of the street. The city staff recommends a condition of 

approval that the text be updated to reflect such requirement (condition #3).  

6. Within the required minimum pavement setback area along Bevelhymer Road, there shall 

be a minimum of 6 trees per 100 lineal feet. 

7. The required amount of interior landscaping shall be a minimum of eight percent (8%) of 

the total area of parking lot pavement. The landscaping areas shall include both shrubs 

and parking lot trees as required by Codified Ordinance 1171.06(a)(3) and be arranged in 

such a manner so as to visually break up large expanses of pavement. 

8. The applicant proposes a storm water basin on site. The city’s landscape architect, 

MKSK, has reviewed the preliminary plan and their comments can be found on a 

separate memo that is attached. MKSK suggests a condition of approval that the applicant 

increase planting adjacent to the storm water basin. The tree should be planted in 

randomized spacing and species in groups of 3 to 9 trees (condition #1).  

 

F. Lighting 

1. All parking lot and private driveway lighting shall be cut-off type fixtures and down cast. 

Lighting along private drives internal to this subarea (if any) shall be presented for review 

and approval as part of a final development plan. Light poles within this subarea shall be 

black or New Albany green and constructed of metal. Parking lot lighting shall not 

exceed 18 feet in height. Parking lot lighting shall be from a controlled source in order to 

eliminate light spillage beyond the boundaries of the development. For any proposed 

development that is adjacent to property located outside of this Zoning District where 

residential uses exist or are permitted, a photometric plan demonstrating zero light 

spillage onto such properties shall be submitted for review and approval by the Planning 

Commission as part of a final development plan. 

2. Landscape uplighting from a concealed source shall be permitted. Any ground lighting 

that is permitted shall be shielded and landscaped. 

3. No permanent colored lights or neon lights shall be used on the exterior of any building. 

Security lighting, when used, shall be of a motion-sensor type. Exterior lighting fixtures 

shall be similar in appearance throughout this subarea. 

4.  All other lighting on the site shall be in accordance with the City’s Codified Ordinances. 

 

G. Signage 

1. Permitted sizes, designs, colors, shapes, and other specifications for ground and 

building signs shall be consistent with the 2013 Trust Corp Signage Recommendations 

Plan which was approved by the City in 2013 for the real property located on the south 

side of U.S. Route 62/Johnstown Road. Any changes or deviations from that plan shall 

require the review and approval of the Planning Commission. 

2. Two ground identification signs shall be permitted along each public street within this 

zoning district. One ground sign shall be permitted at each vehicular access point into 

this zoning district from a public street in order to identify users within this Zoning 

District. The ground signs shall be dual identification. 

3. All signage shall conform to the standards set forth in Section 1169 of the Codified 

Ordinances. 

 

IV. ENGINEER’S COMMENTS 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  6 of 7 

The City Engineer, E.P. Ferris reviewed the proposed rezoning application and provided the 

following comments. Staff recommends a condition of approval that the comments of the city 

engineer are addressed and incorporated into the zoning text as appropriate, subject to staff 

approval (condition #2). 

1. Refer to sheet CP3.  Per City Code, the proposed sanitary sewer shown on this sheet must 

be extended to the upper most limits of the development parcel and must be 10’ offset 

from the existing public water line.  We will further evaluate sanitary sewer collection to 

serve this development once detailed construction plans become available. 

2. Refer to sheets C4-C5.  Spot elevations along parcel lines (e.g., at 50’ intervals) adjacent 

to the development project along with contour information outside of the development 

parcel boundary are required to evaluate surface drainage during the 100-year storm 

event and to determine if offsite drainage is impeded in any way. 

3. Sheet 3 of 9 of the development text states that an additional 10’ of public r/w will be 

dedicated along the parcel frontage which will result in a total dedication of 40’ as 

measured from the road center line. This is consistent with the dedication provided with 

the Bevelhymer Church project located north of the proposed development site. 

4. Refer to sheet L-1, Landscape Plan.  Provide intersection site distance triangles at each of 

the proposed Bevelhymer Road curb cuts and remove obstructions that may impede 

motorist view. 

5. In accordance with code sections 1159.07(b)(2) J. and K., provide documentation 

indicating that all Army Corps of Engineer and Ohio EPA requirements have been met. 

6. We reviewed a Traffic Impact Study associated with this site dated April 27, 2023 and a 

revision to this study dated June 14, 2023. Our concerns regarding traffic circulation have 

been adequately addressed. 

7. Photometric analysis and fire truck turning radius analysis will be required as the project 

moves forward. 

8. We will further evaluate storm water management, water distribution, sanitary sewer 

collection and roadway construction related details once detailed construction plans 

become available. 

 

V. SUMMARY 

The proposed zoning text for the new retail district is appropriate due to the proximity of other 

commercial and residential uses, the proximity of the Johnstown Road and S.R. 161 

interchange, and the continued growth of amenities for the City. The rezoning serves as a 

transition from commercial to residential by requiring lower building heights not to exceed one 

and a half stories and permitting only low-intensity retail uses. The development provides 

strong pedestrian and vehicular connectivity by extending the street and stubbing it for potential 

future connection. The applicant commits to removing the northern most curb cut from 

Bevelhymer Road if and when the property to the north or east is redevelopment. 

 

The proposed permitted and conditional uses and development standards are consistent with 

existing I-PUD district in the area, as well as the Engage New Albany Strategic Plan’s retail 

land use category. The proposal matches the recommendations found in the city’s 2020 Engage 

New Albany Strategic Plan. Land that has direct access to the expressway should be designated 

for office or commercial use.  

 

The proposed district not only places additional commercial uses near the U.S. 161/Johnstown 

Road interchange, it also allows retail uses serving the regular day-to-day needs of nearby 

residents. The land is a transitional area between the more intensive commercial uses to the 

south and the existing residential to the north.  

 

 

 

VI. ACTION 

Suggested Motion for ZC-110-2023:  

 



PC 23 1204 Walton Farms Zoning District Rezoning ZC-110-2023  7 of 7 

Move to recommend approval to Council of the rezoning application ZC-110-2019, subject to the 

following conditions:   

1. The applicant shall increase planting adjacent to the storm water basin. The tree should 

be planted in randomized spacing and species in groups of 3 to 9 trees. 

2. The comments of the city engineer shall be addressed and incorporated into the zoning 

text as appropriate, subject to staff approval. 

3. The zoning text shall be updated to require surface parking areas adjacent to the new 

public road to be screened from the respective rights-of-way with a minimum of a 30-

inch tall continuous planting hedge. 

4. The zoning text shall be revised to clarify the requirement that the A 5-foot wide concrete 

sidewalk is to be installed on the west side of the public drive and to be constructed 

generally along or parallel to the drive as it runs along the rear boundary. 

5. The zoning text shall be updated to clarify that the bicycle parking  

 

 

 

Approximate site Location: 

 

 
 

Source: ArcGIS 

 
 



Ci 
 

 

 

City of New Albany 
99 West  Main Street 
New Albany, Ohio 43054 

MEMO 

 

         404.663-01 
         November 8, 2023 
To:  Chelsea Nichols                            
 City Planner 
  
From:  Matt Ferris, P.E., P.S.          Re: Walton Farms Rezoning 
By: Jay M. Herskowitz, P.E., BCEE                      ZC-110-2023                                     

 
 
  
We reviewed the referenced submittal in accordance with Code Section 1159.07 (b)(2) PDP.  

Our review comments are as follows: 

1. Refer to sheet CP3.  Per City Code, the proposed sanitary sewer shown on this sheet 

must be extended to the upper most limits of the development parcel and must be 10’ 

offset from the existing public water line.  We will further evaluate sanitary sewer 

collection to serve this development once detailed construction plans become available. 

2. Refer to sheets C4-C5.  Spot elevations along parcel lines (e.g., at 50’ intervals) 

adjacent to the development project along with contour information outside of the 

development parcel boundary are required to evaluate surface drainage during the 100-

year storm event and to determine if offsite drainage is impeded in any way. 

3. Sheet 3 of 9 of the development text states that an additional 10’ of public r/w will be 

dedicated along the parcel frontage which will result in a total dedication of 40’ as 

measured from the road center line. This is consistent with the dedication provided with 

the Bevelhymer Church project located north of the proposed development site. 

4. Refer to sheet L-1, Landscape Plan.  Provide intersection site distance triangles at each 

of the proposed Bevelhymer Road curb cuts and remove obstructions that may impede 

motorist view. 

5. In accordance with code sections 1159.07(b)(2) J. and K., provide documentation 

indicating that all Army Corps of Engineer and Ohio EPA requirements have been met. 

6. We reviewed a Traffic Impact Study associated with this site dated April 27, 2023 and a 

revision to this study dated June 14, 2023. Our concerns regarding traffic circulation 

have been adequately addressed. 

7. Photometric analysis and fire truck turning radius analysis will be required as the project 

moves forward. 

8. We will further evaluate storm water management, water distribution, sanitary sewer 

collection and roadway construction related details once detailed construction plans 

become available. 

MEF/JMH 
 
cc:  Cara Denny, Engineering Manager 
       Joshua Albright, Development Engineer         
       Dave Samuelson, P.E., Traffic Engineer 
 



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear Stephen Butler,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Wednesday, December 06, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Zoning Amendment

Location: 6734 BEVELHYMER RD
Applicant: Stephen Butler,

Application: PLZC20230110
Request: Rezoning
Motion: To approve with conditions.

Commission Vote: Motion Approval with Conditions

Result: Zoning Amendment, PLZC20230110 was Approval with Conditions, by a vote of 3-2.

Recorded in the Official Journal this Wednesday, December 6, 2023.

Condition(s) of Approval:

1. The applicant shall increase planting adjacent to the storm water basin. The tree should be planted in
randomized spacing and species in groups of 3 to 9 trees.
2. The comments of the city engineer shall be addressed and incorporated into the zoning text as
appropriate, subject to staff approval.
3. The zoning text shall be updated to require surface parking areas adjacent to the new public road to be
screened from the respective rights-of-way with a minimum of a 30-inch tall continuous planting hedge.
4. The zoning text shall be revised to clarify the requirement that the A 5-foot wide concrete sidewalk is to
be installed on the west side of the public drive and to be constructed generally along or parallel to the
drive as it runs along the rear boundary.
5. The zoning text shall be updated to clarify that the bicycle parking is required per building.
6. The proposed east Road shall be constructed as part of the first phase.
7. Additional information required at the time of the final development plan pertaining to parking and the
timing of parking lot usage with an eye towards compatible uses.
8. The zoning text shall be amended (Section II.E.3.c) to include "subject to staff approval."

Staff Certification:

Chelsea Nichols
Planner



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 5 Final Plat FPL-114-23  1 of 3   

 

 

 

 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

December 4, 2023 Meeting 

  

 

NOTTINGHAM TRACE 

PHASE 5 PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT 

 

LOCATION:  Nottingham Trace subdivision, generally located west of State Route 

605, south of Walnut Street and east of the Upper Albany subdivision 

(PIDs: 222-005265 and 222-004443). 

APPLICANT:   EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill 

REQUEST: Preliminary and Final Plat 

ZONING:   Nottingham Trace I-PUD Zoning District  

STRATEGIC PLAN:  Residential District 

APPLICATION: FPL-114-2023 

 

Review based on: Application materials received on November 13, 2023. 

Staff report completed by Chris Christian, Planner II.  

 

I. REQUEST AND BACKGROUND  

This final plat application is for phase 5 of the Nottingham Trace subdivision. This phase 

includes 42 residential lots, one reserve and three public streets on 9.001 acres. 

 

The site was zoned on April 17, 2017 (O-01-2017). The Planning Commission approved a final 

development plan application for the 240-lot subdivision during their meeting on June 19, 2017 

(FDP-30-2017). 

 

II. SITE DESCRIPTION & USE 

The 9.001+/- acre site is to be incorporated into the existing Nottingham Trace subdivision which 

exists immediately adjacent to it. The subdivision is located in Franklin County and is zoned to 

allow a maximum of 240 residential lots. At least 80% of the units within the development must 

have at least one occupant aged 55 and older.   

 

III. PLAN REVIEW 

The Planning Commission’s review authority of the final plat is found under C.O. Section 1187. 

Upon review of the final plat, the Commission is to make a recommendation to the City Council. 

The staff’s review is based on New Albany plans and studies, zoning text, and zoning regulations.  

 

Residential Lots 

• The final plat is consistent with the approved final development plan for the subdivision. The 

plat shows 42 residential lots. The proposed lot layout and dimensions match what is shown 

on the final development plan and meet the requirements of the zoning text.  

o The final plat appropriately shows the lot widths to be at least 50 feet at the building 

setback line, as required by zoning text section II(E)(4). 

o All lots shown on the final plat have an area of at least 6,000 sq. ft., as required by zoning 

text section II(E)(3). 

o The final plat appropriately shows the front yard setbacks to be 20 feet, as required by the 

zoning text section II(E)(5). 

 

Streets 



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 5 Final Plat FPL-114-23  2 of 3   

• The plat creates one new public dedicated street (Bailey Walk) and extends two existing 

streets. All of the new streets meet the right-of-way requirements in the zoning text:  

o Bullock Lane, with 50 feet of right-of-way.  

o Brinsley Lane, with 50 feet of right-of-way. 

o Bailey Walk, with 50 feet of right-of-way.   

• The utility easements are shown on the plat. 

• Per the city’s subdivision regulations, C.O. 1187.04, all new streets shall be named and shall 

be subject to the approval of the Planning Commission. Bullock Lane and Brinsley Lane are 

existing streets that are to be extended with this development phase. Bailey Walk is a new 

public street and the name is consistent with what was shown on the approved final 

development plan. The meaning/significance of this street name is not known to city staff.  

 

Parkland, Open Space and Tree Preservation Areas 

• This phase of the plat contains one (1) new reserve shown as Reserve I on the plat with a total 

acreage of 0.880+/- acres.    

o According to the plat notes, the reserves shall be owned by the City of New Albany and 

maintained by the homeowner’s association in perpetuity for the purpose of open space. 

Zoning text section II(G)(1) allows stormwater detention or retention ponds and related 

infrastructure, underground utility lines, leisure trails and landscaping to be installed in 

this reserve area.  

• Note “H” on the final plat states that wood bollards must be placed along shared property lines 

where residential lots abut parkland and/or open space in order to provide a clear delineation 

between public and private spaces. This note is consistent with the requirements of other 

subdivisions in New Albany.  

• C.O. 1187.04(d)(4) and (5) requires verification that an application, if required, has been 

submitted to the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency in compliance with Section 401 of 

the Clean Water Act and to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in compliance with Section 404 

of the Clean Water Act. Staff requests evidence of any permits received from the Ohio 

Environmental Protection Agency or U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as a condition of 

approval (condition #1).  

• The city codified ordinance 1159.11 states when a final plat is approved by Council, the owner 

shall file and record the same in the Office of the County Recorder within twelve (12) months 

unless such time is, for good cause shown, extended by resolution of Council. If not recorded 

within this time, the approval of the city council shall become null and void. 

 

IV. ENGINEER’S COMMENTS 

The City Engineer has reviewed the referenced plan in accordance with the engineering related 

requirements of Code Section 1159.07(b)(3) and provided the following comments. Staff 

recommends a condition of approval that these comments be addressed by the applicant, subject 

to staff approval (condition #2).  

1. Sheet 2: Provide drainage easements on the east side of Lots 156-157. 

2. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Instrument Number information adjacent to lots 172-181 

when available. 

3. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 

utilities are to be located.  

4. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 

office. 

 

V. ACTION 

Basis for Approval: 

The final plat is generally consistent with the final development plan and meets code 

requirements. Should the Planning Commission approve the application, the following motion 

would be appropriate. 

 



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 5 Final Plat FPL-114-23  3 of 3   

Suggested Motion for FPL-114-2023:  

 

Move to approve final plat application FPL-114-2023 with the following conditions:  

1. The applicant must provide evidence of any applications filed with the U.S. Army Corps 

of Engineers or Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, as well as any associated 

permits that are issued. 

2. The city engineer comments are addressed, subject to staff approval. 

 

Approximate Site Location: 

 
Source: NearMap 



Ci 
 

 
 

City of New Albany 
99 West  Main Street 
New Albany, Ohio 43054 

MEMO 
 

         404.644-02 
         November 27, 2023 
To:  Christopher Christian                   
 City Planner II 
  
From:  Matt Ferris, P.E., P.S.     Re:      Nottingham Trace   
By: Jay M. Herskowitz, P.E., BCEE                          Final Plats                                                                                                

        Phase 5 and Phase 6                                                                        
 

 
  
We reviewed the referenced plats in accordance with Code Section 1187.06.  Our review 
comments are as follows:   

Phase 5 

1. Sheet 2: Provide drainage easements on the east side of Lots 156-157. 
2. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Instrument Number information adjacent to lots 172-181 

when available. 
3. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 
utilities are to be located.  

4. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 
office. 
 

Phase 6 

 
5. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Plat Book information located in the note block located at 

the top right hand corner of the page. 
6. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 
utilities are to be located.  

7. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 
office. 

 

MEF/JMH 
 
 
 
cc:  Josh Albright, Development Engineer 
       Chelsea Nichols, Planner  
       Cara Denny, Engineering Manager 



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 05, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Plat

Location: Nottingham Trace Subdivision
Applicant: EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill,

Application: PLFPL20230113
Request: Preliminary and final plat for phase 5 of the Nottingham Trace subdivision which includes

42 lots on 9.001 +/- acres (PID: 222-005265).
Motion: Move to approve with conditions

Commission Vote: Motion Approved with Conditions, 5-0

Result: Final Plat, PLFPL20230113 was Approved with Conditions, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 05, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

1. The applicant must provide evidence of any applications filed with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
or Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, as well as any associated permits that are issued.

2. The city engineer comments are addressed, subject to staff approval:

1. Sheet 2: Provide drainage easements on the east side of Lots 156-157.
2. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Instrument Number information adjacent to lots 172-181 when
available.
3. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in proposed Utility
Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public utilities are to be located.
4. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s office.

Staff Certification:

Chris Christian

Planner II



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 6 Final Plat FPL-115-23  1 of 3   

 

 

 

 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

December 4, 2023 Meeting 

  

 

NOTTINGHAM TRACE 

PHASE 6 PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT 

 

LOCATION:  Nottingham Trace subdivision, generally located west of State Route 

605, south of Walnut Street and east of the Upper Albany subdivision 

(PIDs: 222-005265 and 222-004443). 

APPLICANT:   EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill 

REQUEST: Preliminary and Final Plat 

ZONING:   Nottingham Trace I-PUD Zoning District  

STRATEGIC PLAN:  Residential District 

APPLICATION: FPL-115-2023 

 

Review based on: Application materials received on November 13, 2023. 

Staff report completed by Chris Christian, Planner II.  

 

I. REQUEST AND BACKGROUND  

This final plat application is for the 6th and final phase of the Nottingham Trace subdivision. 

This phase includes 44 residential lots, one reserve and three public streets on 9.430 acres. 

 

The site was zoned on April 17, 2017 (O-01-2017). The Planning Commission approved a final 

development plan application for the 240-lot subdivision during their meeting on June 19, 2017 

(FDP-30-2017). 

 

II. SITE DESCRIPTION & USE 

The 9.430+/- acre site is to be incorporated into the existing Nottingham Trace subdivision which 

exists immediately adjacent to it. The subdivision is located in Franklin County and is zoned to 

allow a maximum of 240 residential lots. At least 80% of the units within the development must 

have at least one occupant aged 55 and older.   

 

III. PLAN REVIEW 

The Planning Commission’s review authority of the final plat is found under C.O. Section 1187. 

Upon review of the final plat, the Commission is to make a recommendation to the City Council. 

The staff’s review is based on New Albany plans and studies, zoning text, and zoning regulations.  

 

Residential Lots 

• The final plat is consistent with the approved final development plan for the subdivision. The 

plat shows 44 residential lots. The proposed lot layout and dimensions match what is shown 

on the final development plan and meet the requirements of the zoning text.  

o The final plat appropriately shows the lot widths to be at least 50 feet at the building 

setback line, as required by zoning text section II(E)(4). 

o All lots shown on the final plat have an area of at least 6,000 sq. ft., as required by zoning 

text section II(E)(3). 

o The final plat appropriately shows the front yard setbacks to be 20 feet, as required by the 

zoning text section II(E)(5). 

 

Streets 



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 6 Final Plat FPL-115-23  2 of 3   

• The plat extends three existing, publicly dedicated streets. All of the new streets meet the 

right-of-way requirements in the zoning text:  

o Winterbek Avenue North, with 50 feet of right-of-way.  

o Linden Lane, with 50 feet of right-of-way. 

o Upper Albany Drive, with 50 feet of right-of-way.   

• The utility easements are shown on the plat. 

• Per the city’s subdivision regulations, C.O. 1187.04, all new streets shall be named and shall 

be subject to the approval of the Planning Commission. All three streets are extensions of 

existing streets with previously approved names.  

 

Parkland, Open Space and Tree Preservation Areas 

• This phase of the plat contains one (1) new reserve shown as Reserve K on the plat with a total 

acreage of 0.751+/- acres.    

o According to the plat notes, the reserves shall be owned by the City of New Albany and 

maintained by the homeowner’s association in perpetuity for the purpose of open space. 

Zoning text section II(G)(1) allows stormwater detention or retention ponds and related 

infrastructure, underground utility lines, leisure trails and landscaping to be installed in 

this reserve area.  

• Note “H” on the final plat states that wood bollards must be placed along shared property lines 

where residential lots abut parkland and/or open space in order to provide a clear delineation 

between public and private spaces. This note is consistent with the requirements of other 

subdivisions in New Albany.  

• C.O. 1187.04(d)(4) and (5) requires verification that an application, if required, has been 

submitted to the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency in compliance with Section 401 of 

the Clean Water Act and to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in compliance with Section 404 

of the Clean Water Act. Staff requests evidence of any permits received from the Ohio 

Environmental Protection Agency or U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as a condition of 

approval (condition #1).  

• The city codified ordinance 1159.11 states when a final plat is approved by Council, the owner 

shall file and record the same in the Office of the County Recorder within twelve (12) months 

unless such time is, for good cause shown, extended by resolution of Council. If not recorded 

within this time, the approval of the city council shall become null and void. 

 

IV. ENGINEER’S COMMENTS 

The City Engineer has reviewed the referenced plan in accordance with the engineering related 

requirements of Code Section 1159.07(b)(3) and provided the following comments. Staff 

recommends a condition of approval that these comments be addressed by the applicant, subject 

to staff approval (condition #2).  

1. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Plat Book information located in the note block located at 

the top right hand corner of the page. 

2. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 

utilities are to be located.  

3. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 

office. 

 

V. ACTION 

Basis for Approval: 

The final plat is generally consistent with the final development plan and meets code 

requirements. Should the Planning Commission approve the application, the following motion 

would be appropriate. 

 

Suggested Motion for FPL-115-2023:  

 

Move to approve final plat application FPL-115-2023 with the following conditions:  



PC 23 1204 Nottingham Trace Phase 6 Final Plat FPL-115-23  3 of 3   

1. The applicant must provide evidence of any applications filed with the U.S. Army Corps 

of Engineers or Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, as well as any associated 

permits that are issued. 

2. The city engineer comments are addressed, subject to staff approval. 

 

Approximate Site Location: 

 
Source: NearMap 



Ci 
 

 
 

City of New Albany 
99 West  Main Street 
New Albany, Ohio 43054 

MEMO 
 

         404.644-02 
         November 27, 2023 
To:  Christopher Christian                   
 City Planner II 
  
From:  Matt Ferris, P.E., P.S.     Re:      Nottingham Trace   
By: Jay M. Herskowitz, P.E., BCEE                          Final Plats                                                                                                

        Phase 5 and Phase 6                                                                        
 

 
  
We reviewed the referenced plats in accordance with Code Section 1187.06.  Our review 
comments are as follows:   

Phase 5 

1. Sheet 2: Provide drainage easements on the east side of Lots 156-157. 
2. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Instrument Number information adjacent to lots 172-181 

when available. 
3. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 
utilities are to be located.  

4. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 
office. 
 

Phase 6 

 
5. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Plat Book information located in the note block located at 

the top right hand corner of the page. 
6. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in 

proposed Utility Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public 
utilities are to be located.  

7. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s 
office. 

 

MEF/JMH 
 
 
 
cc:  Josh Albright, Development Engineer 
       Chelsea Nichols, Planner  
       Cara Denny, Engineering Manager 



123

Community Development Department

RE:      City of New Albany Board and Commission Record of Action

Dear EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill,

Attached is the Record of Action for your recent application that was heard by one of the City of New
Albany Boards and Commissions. Please retain this document for your records. 

This Record of Action does not constitute a permit or license to construct, demolish, occupy or make
alterations to any land area or building.  A building and/or zoning permit is required before any work can
be performed.  For more information on the permitting process, please contact the Community
Development Department.

Additionally, if the Record of Action lists conditions of approval these conditions must be met prior to
issuance of any zoning or building permits. 

Please contact our office at (614) 939-2254 with any questions.

Thank you.



123

Community Development Department

Decision and Record of Action
Tuesday, December 05, 2023

The New Albany Planning Commission took the following action on 12/04/2023 .

Final Plat

Location: Nottingham Trace Subdivision
Applicant: EMH&T c/o Curtis Prill,

Application: PLFPL20230114
Request: Preliminary and final plat for phase 6 of the Nottingham Trace subdivision which includes

44 lots on 9.430 +/- acres (PID: 222-004443).
Motion: Move to approve with conditions

Commission Vote: Motion Approved with Conditions, 5-0

Result: Final Plat, PLFPL20230114 was Approved with Conditions, by a vote of 5-0.

Recorded in the Official Journal this December 05, 2023

Condition(s) of Approval:

1. The applicant must provide evidence of any applications filed with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
or Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, as well as any associated permits that are issued.

2. The city engineer comments are addressed, subject to staff approval:

1. Sheet 2: Provide the missing Plat Book information located in the note block located at the top right
hand corner of the page.
2. Sheet 2: Make it clear on the plat that above grade structures are not permitted in proposed Utility
Easements where public water, sanitary and other underground public utilities are to be located.
3. Provide a summary of review comments provided by the Franklin County Engineer’s office.

Staff Certification:

Chris Christian
Planner II



PC 23 1218 Woodhaven Garage Door Variance Staff Report VAR-116-2023 1 of 4 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

December 18, 2023 Meeting 

 

 

7275 STEEPLE CHASE LANE NORTH 

GARAGE DOOR WIDTH VARIANCE 

 

 

LOCATION:   7275 Steeple Chase Lane North (PID: 222-005343) 

APPLICANT:   Bobb Webb Group c/o Kirk Denyes 

REQUEST: Variance 

ZONING:   Woodhaven I-PUD Zoning District 

STRATEGIC PLAN:  Residential District 

APPLICATION: VAR-116-2023 

 

Review based on: Application materials received on November 21, 2023 and December 6, 2023. 

Staff report prepared by Chelsea Nichols, Planner 

 

I. REQUEST AND BACKGROUND  

The applicant requests the following variance: 

1. To allow two 8-foot wide single bay garage doors where the Woodhaven I-PUD zoning 

text (Section XI.A.3) requires a minimum width of 9 feet.  

 

The Planning Commission reviewed and approved a conditional use request for a residential model 

home to be located on this lot within the Woodhaven subdivision at the November 20, 2023 

meeting. The model home is currently under operation.  

 

Prior to this current request, the home builder/property owner followed the appropriate submittal 

and permitting process. The city approved the permit and the property owner installed a double bay 

garage door under the approved application. A review conducted by the city, after approving the 

property owner's permit, identified a mistake in the approval process. The city contacted the 

property owner who agreed to work with the city to submit this variance application in order to 

correct the garage design.  

 

The applicant proposes to remove the existing double bay door and replace it with two single bay 

doors, which is required per the zoning text. However, since the garage is front loaded, Section 

XI.A.3 requires that the single bay doors be a minimum of 9 feet and a maximum of 10 feet wide. 

Due to the home being built, the owner is not able to install garage doors sized at a minimum of 9 

feet. The applicant proposes and requests a variance to install two 8-foot wide single bay doors in 

place of the one double bay door. 

 

II. SITE DESCRIPTION & USE  

The Woodhaven subdivision is located at the southwest corner of Bevelhymer Road and Walnut 

Street. The site is located immediately east of the Upper Clarenton subdivision, generally south 

the Rocky Fork Metro Park and Bevelhymer Park. All of the public streets have been installed in 

the subdivision and there are several homes actively under construction.  

 



PC 23 1218 Woodhaven Garage Door Variance Staff Report VAR-116-2023 2 of 4 
 

The model home is located on lot 52 in the subdivision, addressed off of Steeple Chase Lane 

North. The model home is located close to the subdivision entrance when entering from 

Bevelhymer Road using Woodhaven Drive. 

 

III. ASSESMENT  

The application complies with application submittal requirements in C.O. 1113.03, and is 

considered complete. In accordance with C.O. 1113.05(b), all property owners within 200 feet of 

the subject property in question have been notified of the request via mail. 

 

Criteria 

The standard for granting of an area variance is set forth in the case of Duncan v. Village of 

Middlefield, 23 Ohio St.3d 83 (1986). The Board must examine the following factors when 

deciding whether to grant a landowner an area variance: 

 

All of the factors should be considered and no single factor is dispositive.  The key to whether an 

area variance should be granted to a property owner under the “practical difficulties” standard is 

whether the area zoning requirement, as applied to the property owner in question, is reasonable 

and practical. 

1. Whether the property will yield a reasonable return or whether there can be a beneficial 

use of the property without the variance. 

2. Whether the variance is substantial. 

3. Whether the essential character of the neighborhood would be substantially altered or 

adjoining properties suffer a “substantial detriment.” 

4. Whether the variance would adversely affect the delivery of government services. 

5. Whether the property owner purchased the property with knowledge of the zoning 

restriction. 

6. Whether the problem can be solved by some manner other than the granting of a variance. 

7. Whether the variance preserves the “spirit and intent” of the zoning requirement and 

whether “substantial justice” would be done by granting the variance. 

 

Plus, the following criteria as established in the zoning code (Section 1113.06):  

 

8. That special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land or structure 

involved and which are not applicable to other lands or structures in the same zoning 

district. 

9. That a literal interpretation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance would deprive the 

applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under 

the terms of the Zoning Ordinance. 

10. That the special conditions and circumstances do not result from the action of the 

applicant.  

11. That granting the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special privilege 

that is denied by the Zoning Ordinance to other lands or structures in the same zoning 

district. 

12. That granting the variance will not adversely affect the health and safety of persons 

residing or working in the vicinity of the proposed development, be materially detrimental 

to the public welfare, or injurious to private property or public improvements in the 

vicinity. 

IV.  EVALUATION  

The applicant requests one variance: 

1. To allow two 8-foot wide single bay garage doors where the Woodhaven I-PUD 

zoning text (Section XI.A.3) requires a minimum width of 9 feet.  

 

The following should be considered in the board’s decision: 

1. The applicant requests a variance to the Woodhaven zoning text allow two 8-foot wide 

single bay garage doors where the text requires a minimum width of 9 feet. 



PC 23 1218 Woodhaven Garage Door Variance Staff Report VAR-116-2023 3 of 4 
 

2. The zoning text requires single bay doors on all the homes within the subdivision. The text 

also requires that front loaded garages are to be at least 9 feet wide. The model home is 

fully constructed. The existing door is a double bay door. The applicant proposes to remove 

the existing door and replace it with two single bay doors as required by code. However, 

the applicant proposes two 8-foot wide single bay doors. Each door would be 1 foot short 

of meeting the code requirement. 

3. This particular house currently serves as the model home for the age-restricted product in 

the neighborhood. The applicant recognizes that it is important to replace the existing 

double door with two single doors so that buyers do not get mistaken and think that is an 

option for when considering feature of their new home. Granting this variance will likely 

decrease the chance of future variance requests to allow doublewide garage doors. 

4. The variance does not appear to alter the character of the neighborhood. Replacing it with 

two single bay doors, even if they are each one foot short of meeting the width requirement, 

will allow the garage door to appear the same as all the other garage doors within the 

development.  

5. The variance does not appear to be substantial. The garage doors will each be one foot 

short of meeting the width requirement. The proposed size still provides a functional garage 

door. In addition, with only being one foot off from the requirement, the idea is that the 

discrepancy will not be distinguishable. 

6. The variance preserves the “spirit and intent” of the zoning requirement and “substantial 

justice” would be done by granting the variance. The intent of the requirement is to align 

the building design of the homes within this subdivision with requirements found in the 

city’s Design Guidelines and Requirements. The DGRs require single bay garage doors in 

accordance with traditional American architecture practice. Narrower garage doors, such 

as 8 foot, were common historically. Modern construction frequently offers 9-foot garage 

doors.  

7. There are special conditions that create a uniqueness for the lot. However, the special 

conditions and circumstances do not result from the action of the applicant. The city 

approved the permit and the property owner purchased and installed the garage in 

accordance with the approved application. A review conducted by the city after 

approving the property owner's permit and after its installation identified a mistake in the 

approval process. The city contacted the property owner who agreed to work with the city 

to submit this variance application. 

8. The request does not appear that it can be solved by some manner other than the granting 

of a variance. The model home is already built. The garage doors must fit within the 

parameter of the existing structure due to the framing structure. In order to replace the 

double bay door with two single bay doors, the doors must be sized to fit within the existing 

garage space. 

9. Granting the variances will not adversely affect the health and safety of persons residing 

or working in the vicinity of the proposed development, be materially detrimental to the 

public welfare, or injurious to private property or public improvements in the vicinity. 

10. Approving the variances will not adversely affect the delivery of government services. 
 

SUMMARY 

Even though the proposed doors are narrower than modern doorways, departing from the traditional 

American architectural style by allowing the double bay garage doors is a big consideration. The 

functionality may be slightly limited with an 8-foot-wide garage door, but keeping the traditional 

American architectural form with the single bay doors helps ensure that the community enjoys the 

highest possible quality of architectural design. The applicant has taken care to create this design 

solution that meets the spirit and intent of city code and the Design Guidelines and Requirements.   

 

V. ACTION 

Should the Planning Commission find that the application has sufficient basis for approval, the 

following motion is appropriate: 

 



PC 23 1218 Woodhaven Garage Door Variance Staff Report VAR-116-2023 4 of 4 
 

Move to approve application VAR-116-2023 based on the findings in the staff report 

(conditions of approval may be added). 

 

 

Approximate Site Location: 

 
Source: ArcGIS 





 

We are requesting a Variance for Lot 52 Woodhaven, to Allow for 

8’-0” wide Garage Doors on this Existing Home.  

 

The Development Text Requires Minimum 9’-0” wide, Maximum 

10’-0” Wide Garage Doors. This House was Mistakenly Submitted 

for Permit, Approved by Zoning Staff & Constructed with a 16’ 

Wide Garage Door. 

 

We want the House to Be as Close to Compliance as Possible. We 

propose to remove the Existing 16’-0” Wide Door and Replace it 

with two (2) 8’-0” Doors. The Existing Garage is too narrow to 

allow for two (2) 9’-0” wide Doors, as required by the 

Development Text. 8’-0 wide doors are the Industry Standard for 

Single Garage Doors. We have made sure that all the other Homes 

under Construction have the Code Compliant 9’-0” wide, 10’-0” 

wide Garage Doors. 

 

I believe the Intent of this Section of the Development Text is to 

minimize the impact of the Garage Doors on the Overall House 

Elevation? 

 

What We propose to do, will accomplish this. 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

Being Lot 52 of Woodhaven Subdivision, situated in the State of 

Ohio, County of Franklin, City of New Albany, Half Section 17, 

Section 9, Quarter Township 1, Township 2, Range 16. United 

States Military Lands.  As Recorded in Official Record, 

04/28/2023 at the Recorder’s Office, Franklin County, Instrument 

# 202304280040996. PB 132/Page 315 



Whether the property will yield a reasonable return or whether there can be a 
beneficial use of the property without the variance. 
 
The Only Value of Property is as a Single-Family Home. Granting of the Variance will 
NOT affect this. 
 
Whether the variance is substantial. 
 
There is Minimal Expense to change Out the Single Door for Two (2) Separate Doors. 
 
Whether the essential character of the neighborhood would be substantially altered, 
or adjoining properties suffer a “substantial detriment.” 
 
The Character of the Community will be enhanced. The Grage Doors on this Home 
will Be much more like the Garage Doors on All the other Homes in the Development. 
 
Whether the variance would adversely affect the delivery of government services. 
 
It will Not. 
 
Whether the property owner purchased the property with knowledge of the zoning 
restriction. 
 
The Requirement for a Minimum 9’ wide/ Maximum 10’ wide Garage Door is in the 
Development Text. It was Missed by both the Builder and The Zoning Department 
when the 16’ wide Door was Submitted & Approved. 
 
Whether the problem can be solved by some manner other than the granting of a 
variance. 
 
It can Not. The Existing Garage is too Narrow to allow room for two (2) 9’-0” wide 
Doors. 
 
Whether the variance preserves the “spirit and intent” of the zoning requirement and 
whether “substantial justice” would be done by granting the variance. 
 
It would Be. The Requirement for Separate Garage doors would Be acheived 

 
That special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land or 
structure involved and which are not applicable to other lands or structures in the same 
zoning district. 
 
There is None. This was an oversight in following the Development Text 
 



That a literal interpretation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance would deprive 
the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning 
district under the terms of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
This Variance Will allow this Home to resemble the our Homes in the Development. 
 
That the special conditions and circumstances do not result from the action of the 
applicant. 
 
Both The Applicant & The Zoning Staff missed the Maximum 10’ wide Garage Door 
Requirement in the Development Text. Granting The Variance Allowing 8’-0” wide 
Doors In Lieu of the required minimum 9’ Wide Doors will allow this House to more 
Closely match the intent of the Development Text. 
 
That granting the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special 
privilege that is denied by the Zoning Ordinance to other lands or structures in the 
same zoning district. 
 
Granting The Variance Will Allow This Home to more closely match the Other Homes 
in the Community 
 
That granting the variance will not adversely affect the health and safety of persons 
residing or working in the vicinity of the proposed development, be materially 
detrimental to the public welfare, or injurious to private property or public 
improvements in the vicinity. 
 
 
 It will Not. 

 
 





30

2 4 
2 4 

C. David Johnson
A  R  C  H  I  T  E  C  T

email:  cdavidaia@aol.com
cell: 614-330-5266
studio: 8965 Coe Dr.

Plain City, Ohio  43064

A. I. A.

"cottage to castle..."

Architectural  Design,  Land  Planning
Renderings,  New Build and Renovation

lot 52 Woodhaven



LANDMARK SURVEY GROUP, INCORPORATED


	December 18 Agenda
	December 18 Case: VAR-116-2023 Staff Report
	December 4 DRAFT meeting minutes
	December 4 Cases
	December 4 Appendix:
	   FDP-87-2023 Record of Action
	   FPL-88-2023 Record
	   FPL-91-2023 Record of Action
	   FPL-92-2023 Record of Action
	   ZC-107-2023 Staff Report and Record of Action
	   ZC-110-2023 Staff Report and Record of Action
	   FPL-114-2023 Staff Report and Record of Action
	   FPL-115-2023 Staff Report and Record of Action



